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RMB’0000 O O OO

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
00000 O00O0O0O OO0O0O00 00000 oOoOoOOoo

Revenue ooo 2,828,225 4,799,807 4,612,105 5,315,685 6,359,786

Profit before tax ogooo 157,085 765,207 1,315,280 1,327,836 222,264
Profit attributable to owners ogoooooon

of the Company for the year ooono 238,904 640,194 1,059,700 1,024,210 240,788

Basic earnings per share oooooo 0.19 0.51 0.85 0.76 0.16

Asset information O O O [

RMB’0000 O O OO 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

00000 0D0O0D0O0 00000 ODO0OO0OoO ooooo

Total assets oooo 14,208,856 13,844,278 15,351,947 19,025,895 19,108,177

Total liabilities oooo 6,155,086 7,567,945 7,880,073 7,336,905 7,584,862

Equity attributable to shareholders OO OO OOOOOO

of the Company
Share capital oo

Revenue O O O
RMB’000,000 000000
7000

6000
5,316

5000 4.800 4,612

4000
3000 2828

2000

1000

2017 2018 2019 2020

7,832,164 6,099,612 7,348,360 11,569,392 11,411,354
1,247,202 1,247,202 1,247,202 1,467,296 1,467,296

Gross profit [0 [
RMB’000,000 0 0000 O

2500

6,360
2,017 1,994
2000 1,874
1,672
1500 l
1000 852
500
0
2021 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

The Group’s financial statements for years 2016 and before were prepared in goooooooooooooooooo
accordance with the PRC GAAP and were not prepared in accordance with the jooooooooooooooooooo
IFRS. If the investor needs the relevant information, please visit the website at goooopocoooooooooooooo

http://www.cninfo.com.cn

0 O O http://www.cninfo.com.cn
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Li Li Chairman

FHEREFR

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of directors (the “Board”) of Shenzhen Hepalink
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (the “Company”, or “Hepalink”), | am pleased to
announce the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”) for the year ended December 31, 2021 (the
“Reporting Period”). We have recorded continued revenue growth and non-API
business revenue accounting for more than 50% of the total revenue, which has
successfully consolidated and further enhanced the advantages and competitiveness
of the transformation, resulting in encouraging growth.

In 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic situation continued to recurrent with the variant
virus spreading rapidly. Although vaccination rates began to increase in various
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learning from historical experience to steadily move towards a better future, and
passed on its corporate values and embodied its entrepreneurial spirit on all fronts,
thereby achieving significant progress in business development and operation during
the year. In terms of the finished dose pharmaceutical products, the Group’s finished
dose enoxaparin sodium pharmaceutical products has achieved commercial sales in
43 countries and regions and maintained market share and rapid growth in key
European markets, and achieved rapid expansion with over 300% year-on-year
growth in sales volume in non-European and U.S. regions. At the same time, the
Group’s self-operated sales efforts in the U.S. was also put into operation, actively
promoting sales. In addition, the Group’s enoxaparin sodium injection, Prolongin®,
has been included in the centralized procurement catalogue of various provinces in
Mainland China, which is conducive to the Group’s accelerated restructuring of the
new market landscape. In terms of CDMO business, under the Group’s leadership,
Cytovance has continued to achieve significant growth and has continued to produce
key enzymes for the two largest mMRNA vaccine manufacturers in the U.S.,
contributing to the building of “global immunity”. In terms of new drug research and
development, the Group continued to promote the clinical implementation and
execution of the drugs under development and continuously increased its investment
in research and development. During the year, a number of innovative drug projects
made significant progress, including the approval of the global multi-regional Phase
Il clinical trial of Oregovomab, an innovative patented drug for the treatment of
ovarian cancer, in Taiwan, China; the global Phase lll trial of Tosatoxumab (AR301), a
fully human IgG1 monoclonal antibody, achieved the first patient dosing in China;
and the self-developed innovative drug H1710, a key technology research project for
the treatment of pancreatic cancer, was publicly funded as a technology research
project by the Shenzhen Science and Technology Innovation Commission.

While consolidating and maintaining the strong competitiveness of its existing
business, the Group has continuously strengthened its development capability and
strived to meet the ever-expanding market demand. During the year, the Group has
been engaging in external cooperation, vigorously promoting digital operation and
management, strengthening technology-enabled industrial projects as well as
promoting rapid business progress with efficient production capacity. At the
corporate operation level, the Group launched the matrix operation of the SPL
organization to promote the integration of business strategies and the efficient
operation of production capacity, laying a solid foundation for business growth
next year. The addition of various senior executives has injected new energy into
Hepalink and promoted the realization of the Group’s strategic objectives. The
internal system of the Group has been improving with a number of functional
departments successfully established and upgraded to ensure the orderly and
efficient implementation of various tasks. Together, we would make Hepalink the
world’s leading innovative multinational pharmaceutical enterprise.
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Overview

Hepalink is a global pharmaceutical company with business spanning the
manufacture and sales of pharmaceutical products, development of Contract

Development and Manufacturing Organization (“CDMO”) services and innovative
drugs. Our sales of pharmaceutical products consist of (i) finished dose
pharmaceutical products, which mainly include enoxaparin sodium injection; (ii)
active pharmaceutical ingredient (“API”’) products, including heparin sodium API
and enoxaparin sodium API; and (iii) other products, mainly including pancreatin
API. We operate a CDMO business providing research and development (“R&D”),
manufacturing, quality management and program management services, through
our wholly-owned subsidiaries Cytovance Biologics, Inc. (“Cytovance”), which
specializes in the development and manufacture of recombinant pharmaceutical
products and critical non-viral vectors and intermediates for gene therapy, and SPL
Acquisition Corp. (“SPL”), which provides services in the development and
manufacture of naturally derived pharmaceutical products. The Group has obtained
exclusive development and commercial interest in Greater China for certain clinical
stage innovative drug candidates which are being developed for the treatment of
diseases with an immune system. We are also developing a self-discovered
proprietary drug candidate currently at preclinical stage.

g

ooooooooooooooooooao
goooooooebMobO OboOooOooOoOo
ooooooooOo@moooooooooo
ooooooom™@pAPID 00D ODOOO
APIDOOOOOAPIOOGNHND D ODOOO
OO0OO0DOAPIODODDDODDODODOOOO
Cytovance Biologics, InclD 0 O 0O OO0 O O
ogooooooooooooopooooo
oo00oooU0o0oUoooooooooooo
SPL Acquisition CorpD SPLODN O O OO OO
00000oooooooooooocbMo
oooo0o0o0opoooooooOooOooo
000o00ooooooooooooooao
000000000 0oo0ooooooooo
opoooooooooobooooooao
0o00o00ooooooooooooooao
00oooooooooooooOoooo

“HEN HEN HE ALINK HA MACE ICALG @ Ce.LD. 00000000 0000onon

ANN AL E @ 20210000



In 2021, the recovery of major economies continued to gain momentum as
vaccination rates increased and travel restrictions were gradually loosened,
particularly in China, the United States and Europe. However, uncertainties remain,
with economic growth clouded by lagging vaccination rates in some countries and
the quick spread of variant viruses such as Delta and Omicron in India and South
Africa, causing recurrent outbreaks worldwide.

China’s pandemic prevention and control are gaining positive progress, economic
activities returned to normal while domestic demand and external trade rebounded
steadily. Macroeconomic indicators performed well, with gross domestic product
(“GDP”) growing by 8.1% year-on-year in 2021, reaching up to RMB114.4 trillion.
By industry, the revenue of industrial enterprises above the scale, including the
pharmaceutical manufacturing industry, showed a higher year-on-year growth,
while upgraded consumer goods, service industry and internet-related industries
also rose significantly. In 2021, execution continued for the third batch of drugs
under the national centralized procurement program, the fourth batch was
implemented and the tendering for the fifth was completed, indicating that the
program has become a norm in China. The national medical insurance negotiations
and centralized drug procurement significantly shortened the time to market new
high quality products that have won the tender, which is expected to reduce the
promotion cost for the well-positioned enterprises to achieve rapid market entry
and volume sales for their products, resulting in accelerated improvement in
revenue and cost efficiency. During the Reporting Period, the Group further
developed its sales and marketing team in China in response to the healthcare
reform policy and actively embrace the opportunities brought by the policy to the
pharmaceutical industry.

The year 2021 was a challenging year for the Group. In particular, financial
performance was affected by a combination of challenges related to high unit cost
of raw material and rising operating costs for most of the year. Nevertheless, the
Group’s finished dose pharmaceutical products business, enoxaparin active
pharmaceutical ingredient (“API”’) and Cytovance segment all achieved outstanding
results with booming revenue growth. This reflects the advantages of the
management’s shift to finished dose pharmaceutical products as its core business in
recent years, and demonstrates the Group’s resilience to adversity.

During the Reporting Period, the sales revenue of the Group increased by 19.6% to
approximately RMB6,359.8 million (2020: approximately RMB5,315.7 million).
Earnings attributable to equity holders of the parent amounted to approximately
RMB240.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately 76.5% as compared
to the same period of last year.
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and earnings per share were partly due to the investment income accounted for
under the equity method by the Company’s associates in 2020, the investment
income from the sale of financial assets and dividends, and the increase in the fair
value of the Company’s equity interest in Kymab. The sum of investment income
and fair value changes had an impact of RMB585.7 million on 2020 net profit; this
figure had a significant impact on the year-on-year change in net profit in 2021.
However, the Group believes that some of the equity investment impairments are
temporary adjustments due to certain market reasons and the impact of the
epidemic. The Group still supports and is optimistic about the development of
innovative drug business of its equity investments (including Resverlogix Corp.
(“RVX”)).

Excluding the after-tax impact of external investment-related projects on the
Group’s income statement (including investment income, gains from changes in fair
value, impairment of assets related to investment projects, etc.), and after-tax
structural foreign exchange gains and losses, basic earnings attributable to equity
holders of the parent in 2021 were approximately RMB557.3 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 9.5% as compared to the same period of last year. As
at the end of the period, cash and bank balances amounted to approximately
RMB1,479.6 million, representing an increase of approximately 11.2% as compared
to the same period of last year.

The impairment loss of associates mainly represents the impairment loss of
RMB223.1 million on long-term equity investments recognized by the Group during
the Reporting Period due to the existence of impairment indicators in the
associates, namely RVX and Shenzhen Asia Pacific Health Management Co., Ltd.
(“Asia Pacific Health™), for which an impairment provision of RMB186.1 million
(2020: nil) was made for the equity interest held in RVX and an impairment
provision of RMB37.0 million (2020: nil) was made for the long-term equity
investment in Asia Pacific Health. The recoverable amount was determined based
on the net of the fair value less disposal expenses. The above impairment was
one-off and had no impact on the cash flows of the Group.

The share of losses of associates is mainly attributable to RVX and Hightide
Therapeutics, Inc. (“Hightide”) which are considered to be associates of the
Group, are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, when
an associate achieves a net profit or incurs a net loss, the investor enterprise shall
calculate its share of the profit or loss according to its equity portion, and
recognized it as the share of profits and losses of associates. The share of losses of
associates had no impact on the cash flows of the Group.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately goooooooooooooOuoe,359.8
RMB6,359.8 million, representing an increase of approximately 19.6% as compared Jo0o00ooooooooD19.6%wb00O
to 2020. During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a profit attributable to joooo0oooooooooooouooo

equity holders of the parent of approximately RMB240.8 million (2020: go0opoz08000000000000O0
approximately RMB1,024.2 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 00102420 0000000 0O76.5%0
76.5%.

During the Reporting Period, operating income for each business segment is as goo0ooooooOoOooOoOoogoooo

follows:
For the year ended 31 December
gooooooooooo
2021 2020
Operating Operating
income income
goooo ooooo Year-on-year
oooo oooo increase/
RMB’000 RMB’000 (decrease) (%)
Business Segment oooo ooooo ooo000 0O000000%)
Sales of products ooood 5,504,926 4,456,472 23.5%
Finished dose pharmaceutical products oooo 2,638,151 1,510,731 74.6%
API API 2,721,733 2,700,886 0.8%
Others® ogw 145,042 244,855 (40.8%)
CDMO service cbMoOU O 813,104 797,387 2.0%
Others® oge 41,756 61,826 (32.5%)
Total oo 6,359,786 5,315,685 19.6%
Notes: ooao
(1)  Other products mainly include pancreatin API. (1) D00ODODOOOOOAPO
(2)  Other business mainly includes manufacture and marketing services, processing services, (2 OO0OO0OOOODOOOOODOOODOOOO
technical support services and other services. oooooboooooooo
Sales 00

The Group mainly operates four main business focus, including (i) the Finished Dose goooooooooooooooooaeo
Pharmaceutical Business; (ii) the API business; (iii) CDMO business; and (iv) the 0 0 00 () APIO O O (iii) cbMoO O O (iv)0
innovative drugs. ooo
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During the Reporting Period, the finished dose pharmaceutical products business of
the Group maintained a rapid growth trend with sales revenue increased by 74.6%
or approximately RMB1,127.5 million to approximately RMB2,638.2 million as
compared with the same period of last year, accounting for 41.5% of the Group’s
total revenue.

Since the starting of its overseas operations in 2016, the Group’s international
business of finished dose pharmaceutical products is now all across the world with
remarkable results, selling in over 40 regions and markets within five years, and
ranking top in terms of market share in the United Kingdom, Poland, Italy and
other markets. During the Reporting Period, the total sales volume of the Group’s
finished dose pharmaceutical products business exceeded 180 million units,
representing a year-on-year increase of 72.6%.

In 2021, the Group once again achieved impressive results in the European market.
During the Reporting Period, sales volume increased by 49.3% year-on-year with
the revenue increased 59.3% year-on-year.

The Group sustained a strong sales growth momentum in the European market,
and proactive sales strategy was adopted to successfully expand and strengthen
sales networks. During the Reporting Period, on the one hand, we further
consolidated our strengths in key European markets and local hospital channels and

Ooooo0o0oooooooooOoooooao
oo000booO0o0o0b0000074.6%00
ooboo0d11275000000002,638.2
0000000000 041.5%0

goooobooobooobooooooo
go0Oo0ooOooOooboOobOOooooOod4000
goooOooooobOoooooobOoboo
gooooOooooooobooooooo
goooobooooboooooboools00OO
0o0072.6%0

Ooo0o0ooooooooooOoooooao
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holder of the marketing authorization for enoxaparin sodium injection was
approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”). During the
Reporting Period, the Group was the supplier of enoxaparin sodium injection to the
strategic partner of the United States marketing authorization holder for enoxaparin
sodium injection, who was responsible for sales and distribution, and sales of the
such products have commenced during the year. During the Reporting Period, the
Group recorded sales of over 13 million units of enoxaparin sodium injection in the
United States, paving the way for further penetration into the U.S. market. In 2021,
the Group’s subsidiary received FDA approval for its heparin sodium injection,
authorizing the Group to sell the product in the U.S. market. Meanwhile, the
Group'’s sales office in the United States will focus on and initiate the marketing of
heparin sodium injection in 2022 to prepare for future sales in the United States.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had been boosting its market presence
overseas and marketing efforts with satisfactory sales results. In particular, the
Group’s sales volume in the international non-European and American markets
grew significantly by more than 300% year-on-year during the Reporting Period
with the revenue increased 281.7% year-on-year. At the same time, the Group
added eight new countries to its list of sales, namely Canada, Brazil, Saudi Arabia,
Palestine, North Macedonia, Malaysia, Bosnia and Herzegovina and Bolivia, and
received approval for sales in Serbia.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s enoxaparin sodium injection was
registered in over 60 countries and was sold in over 40 countries and regions
worldwide.

In the face of the normalization of the centralized procurement in the
pharmaceutical industry in the PRC, the Group continued to reinforce the
establishment and integration of its marketing system during the Reporting Period
to support clinical medicine, market access and brand promotion, and to accelerate
the admission into the national and provincial and municipal medical insurance
drug catalogues. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s enoxaparin sodium
injection has been included in a number of centralized procurement drug
catalogues and the sales in China market was up 16.2% year-on-year. In addition,
the Group organized various medical conferences and participated in more than
400 academic conferences during the year to promote academic exchanges and at
the same time, provide feedback on the efficacy of drugs and clinical use
recommendations in hospitals to enhance the treatment level and brand influence
of thromboembolic diseases in China, which helped to rapidly establish a new
market landscape.
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molecular weight heparin (“LMWH?”) finished doses, which is widely used in clinical
practice. Its main indications include prophylaxis of venous thromboembolic disease
(prophylaxis of venous thrombosis), especially thrombosis related to orthopedics or
general surgery; treatment of developed deep vein embolism with or without
pulmonary embolism; used in hemodialysis and extracorporeal circulation to
prevent thrombosis, etc.. Finished dose enoxaparin sodium pharmaceutical product
of the Group is the first generic drug in the European Union and was approved by
the European Medicines Agency (the “EMA”) through the Centralized Procedure
(CP) in 2016. According to the Clinical Guidelines issued by the World Health
Organization and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence of the
United Kingdom, LMWH can also be used to prevent complications caused by
COVID-19.

In connection with the efficacy of enoxaparin sodium in the treatment of
COVID-19’s symptoms, the Group has completed clinical studies in Italy. In February
2021, the last patient enrollment was completed. Clinical studies have shown that
timely administration of the finished dose enoxaparin sodium pharmaceutical
product can reduce the length of hospital stay by more than 20% and relieve
symptoms in more than 65% of cases. The clinical data indicates that in terms of
safety and clinical efficacy, the finished dose enoxaparin sodium pharmaceutical
product is effective in limiting the pathogenic symptoms of COVID-19 when
administered before patients reach critical stages.

API Business

During the Reporting Period, heparin API business was stable with a slight increase,
and the sales revenue was approximately RMB2,721.7 million (the same period of
last year: RMB2,700.9 million), accounting for 42.8% of the Group’s total revenue,
and the gross profit margin was 26.6%. During the Reporting Period, the Company
further expanded the sales market of enoxaparin sodium API and strengthened the
marketing strategy of the existing enoxaparin sodium APl market. Becoming a new
growth point of the Company’s heparin industry chain business, enoxaparin sodium
API business’s revenue increased by 48.8% and the sales volume increased by
31.2% year-on-year.
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management, with strict guidelines on the selection of raw materials, supply chain,
production process and production stability to ensure a high standard of product
quality. During the Reporting Period, the Group actively gave play to the integration
advantages, so that the API business will maintain a stable development. During
the Reporting Period, the sales of enoxaparin API continued to rise, mainly driven
by the growth in sales of enoxaparin API, which became an additional growth
driver for the API business. The high consistency of the manufacturing process and
product quality of enoxaparin APl produced by the Group continue to consolidate
and maintain its leading advantage and prominent position in the market.

Heparin is a type of anticoagulant drug with various functions such as
anticoagulation and antithrombosis. The heparin industry consists of the initial
upstream procurement of porcine small intestines, the upstream extraction of crude
heparin, the midstream manufacture of heparin APIs and the downstream
manufacture and supply of enoxaparin finished dose. Heparin Sodium API is mainly
used for the manufacture of standard heparin finished doses and LMWH APIs,
which in turn are used for the manufacture of LMWH finished doses. The Group
has two major manufacture bases for Heparin Sodium APl in China and the United
States. Apart from being partly supplied to Shenzhen Techdow Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, the Heparin Sodium APIs are mainly
sold to overseas customers, including a number of world renowned multinational
pharmaceutical enterprises.

CcbMO

During the Reporting Period, sales revenue of CDMO business was approximately
RMB813.1 million (the same period of last year: RMB797.4 million). Gross profit
level improved significantly, with gross margin up 5.7 percentage points to 32.0%.

During the Reporting Period, with its good performance, sales amount of Cytovance
under the Group’s CDMO business was approximately RMB692.9 million, growing
by 17.3% year-on-year and gross profit margin of service revenue reached up to
45.5%; the scale of service revenue and gross profit of Cytovance increased by
25.3% and 85.2% compared to the same period of last year, respectively. Gross
margin of service income was up 14.7 percentage points to 45.5%. During the
Reporting Period, the Group’s CDMO relied on its own core technologies and key
technology platforms to support the supply chain of mMRNA COVID-19 vaccines in a
rapid, efficient and scalable manner to better meet the global demand for the
large-scale production of commercialized mRNA vaccines worldwide. During the
Reporting Period, the Group established a clearer KPIs and quarterly incentive
system targeted on the two key indicators of the punctuality and success for CDMO
projects, ensuring that the milestone revenue from CDMO service can show a
better growth momentum as well as further improvement for the operation and
management efficiency of Cytovance.
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Outlook

In 2022, as the COVID-19 pandemic continued to spread around the world for two
years, countries are still looking for ways out of the pandemic’s predicament. While
many countries and regions worldwide took important steps toward normalization
in 2022, including the introduction of vaccination programs and the relaxation or
even lifting of restrictions, the emergence and spread of Omicorn variant led to a
quick resurgence of the pandemic and a divergent economic recovery. While the
global pandemic is not over and the rapid spread of variants has slowed the pace
of economic normalization in some regions, large-scale vaccination in all regions
helps speed up the return of daily life and economic activities to normalcy. The
global and Chinese economies are expected to continue to recover in 2022, and
China’s GDP growth is expected to be higher than the potential growth rate.

The year 2022 will be the starting point for the Group’s business segment
improvement and profitability enhancement, and we will present a very different
picture from 2021. In the year ahead, we are confident that we can accomplish our
goals of solid and sustainable revenue growth and, more importantly, improved
financial performance and profitability, as well as constant growth in corporate
value.

The Group will be building on its core strengths and industry-leading position in
the heparin chain and maintain faster revenue growth.

In terms of finished dose pharmaceutical products business development, we will
further expand our overseas markets and value chain with increasing scale of our
global business. Continuing to expand our market share through solidifying and
enhancing our leading position in the European market, we have been actively
exploring existing markets and heightening sales in the hospital and the retail
channel to increase unit selling price as well as profitability. In the U.S. market, we
will cooperate with our local partners to maintain our strong growth momentum.
Moreover, the Group has launched a business development plan and set up a new
sales office in the first half of 2022 to expeditiously promote the sales of heparin
sodium finished doses, and earnestly expand the sales and market coverage in
North America. In the PRC market, as the first pharmaceutical company to pass the
consistency evaluation of enoxaparin sodium injection, we will strongly support the
national centralized drug procurement policy in an attempt to drive out bad money
with good money, aiming to provide high quality drugs to patients in the PRC. In
addition, our experienced Chinese marketing team will seize the opportunity of
centralized procurement and achieve rapid market entry and sales upsurge with
low promotion cost, which will become a new growth driver for the Group’s
pharmaceutical sales.

|
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In terms of API business development, we will be amplifying the ability of resource
coordination to allocate resources in terms of the operating conditions. With
greater bargaining power, we will be able to efficiently meet customer needs and
maintain stable business growth. At the same time, we will optimize our product
structure and focus on promoting the sales of our high-tech, high-quality and high
value-added products, enoxaparin API, to secure exceptional development and
sustainable revenue growth of our API business.

In terms of CDMO business development, the Group will reinforce its technological
leadership to drive the development of its two business wings of mammalian cell
culture and microbial fermentation with high quality and efficiency. The constant
changes in disease treatment and the continuous upgrade of innovative drug fields
allow ample room for growth and good development opportunities for Cytovance.
The Group will maintain its technological leadership in mammalian cell culture and
microbial fermentation, enhance the two key indicators of the punctuality and
success for CDMO projects and further accelerate the scale of development of the
two business wings, consequently leading to the improvement of Cytovance’s
overall revenue scale and efficiency. In addition, the Group will actively plan for the
development of CDMO projects and the expansion of Cytovance to provide new
capacity and growth force for the future development of CDMO.

With regard to innovative drugs, the Group will continue to adhere to the principles
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Furthermore, aiming to achieve success, the Group has formulated corresponding
strategies to improve its performance. In 2022, we will increase the technical
investment and application of our global supply chain management system to
connect the business, information, capital and logistics data in different operating
regions of the Group, so as to realize the efficient operation of business, capital
and logistics. For one thing, resource allocation optimization, business restructure
and industrial upgrade and visual management of supply chain will give full play to
synergy and integration to attain efficient operation, realizing cost reduction,
efficiency and profitability enhancement. On the other hand, digital management
will provide a stronger basis for each of the Group’s business decisions and
negotiations to ensure that business decisions are made in the best interest of the
Group. At the same time, we are closely monitoring the significant easing trend of
raw material prices from the third quarter of 2021 onwards, which is expected to
reduce the pressure on production costs and will have a positive impact on earnings
and gross margin in 2022. We will actively promote the normalization of cost
reduction and efficiency improvement, and further optimize our production
capacity to attain economies of scale. Simultaneously, we will further promote
operational excellence and strengthen our basic management, especially in the
areas of raw material procurement, marketing expenses, per capita output and
logistics efficiency, for better management efficiency.

In 2022, the Group will be implementing and advancing its strategic plan with
steady business development. By further enhancing operational efficiency, the
Group persists in obtaining progressive growth in performance, and expanding
steadily with sufficient resources in the volatile market environment both
domestically and globally. The Group will continuously fortify its existing business
and actively seize appropriate opportunities. We are confident in the Group’s future
prospects and growth opportunities, and are committed to creating long-term
value for our shareholders.
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Financial Review

Revenue

ggogd
oo

For the year ended 31 December
goooboooooooo

2021 2021 2020 2020
Sales amount % of  Sales amount % of Year-on-year
ooooag Revenue ooooo Revenue increase/
ooao goooag ooag O0O0O000Qg (decrease) (%)
RMB’000 oo RMB’000 00 O0ObOooooo
ooooo (%) ooooo (%) (%)
Sale of goods oooo 5,504,926 86.6% 4,456,472 83.8% 23.5%
Finished dose pharmaceutical products 0000 2,638,151 41.5% 1,510,731 28.4% 74.6%
API| AP 2,721,733 42.8% 2,700,886 50.8% 0.8%
Others® oo 145,042 2.3% 244,855 4.6% (40.8%)
CDMO services cbmMmoo O 813,104 12.8% 797,387 15.0% 2.0%
Others®@ go® 41,756 0.6% 61,826 1.2% (32.5%)
Total oo 6,359,786 100% 5,315,685 100.0% 19.6%

Revenue from manufacturing and sales of goods increased by RMB1,048.4 million
to RMB5,504.9 million, accounting for 86.6% of the total revenue during the
Reporting Period, as compared with RMB4,456.5 million or 83.8% of the Group’s
revenue in the corresponding period in 2020. The increase in revenue from
manufacturing and sales of goods was mainly due to the year-on-year increase in
sales revenue of finished dose pharmaceutical products during the period. The
finished dose pharmaceutical products business benefited from the rapid growth of
the Group’s sales in Europe, the United States and other overseas markets in 2021,
with a year-on-year increase in average sales price and a year-on-year increase of
74.6% in sales revenue of the finished dose pharmaceutical products business.

Cost of sales

For the Reporting Period, cost of sales increased by RMB1,067.4 million to
RMB4,366.2 million, as compared with RMB3,298.8 million for the corresponding
period in 2020. The increase in cost of sales was mainly due to the increase in cost
of sales of finished dose pharmaceutical products and APl during the Reporting
Period.
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Gross Profit

g

For the year ended 31 December

oooo00O0o0oOoOoooo

2021 2020

2021 Gross profit 2020 Gross profit

Gross profit margin Gross profit margin

ooooo goooo ooooo ooooao

oo ooo oo oood

RMB’000 (%) RMB’000 (%)

ooooo (%) ooooo (%)

Sale of goods oooao 1,691,939 30.7% 1,755,073 39.4%
Finished dose pharmaceutical products oooa 973,785 36.9% 724,150 47.9%
API API 724,234 26.6% 1,078,164 39.9%
Others® ogw (6,080) (4.2%) (47,241) (19.3%)
CDMO services cbmMmoo o 259,803 32.0% 209,832 26.3%
Others® og@ 41,840 100.2% 51,931 84.0%
Total oo 1,993,582 31.3% 2,016,836 37.9%

Notes: ooo

@

Other products mainly include Pancreatin API.

@

Other business mainly includes manufacture and marketing services, processing services,
technical support services and other services.

For the Reporting Period, gross profit decreased by RMB23.3 million to RMB1,993.6
million, as compared with RMB2,016.8 million in the corresponding period in 2020.
For the Reporting Period, gross profit margin decreased by 6.6 percentage points to
31.3%, as compared with 37.9% for the corresponding period in 2020. The
decrease in gross profit margin was mainly due to the increase in cost of sales as a
result of higher raw material prices for API.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs mainly consist of interest on bank borrowings and
corporate bonds and other finance costs. For the Reporting Period, finance costs
decreased by RMB50.7 million to RMB210.1 million, as compared with RMB260.8
million for the corresponding period in 2020, representing a decrease of 19.4%.
The decrease in finance costs was mainly due to a decrease in interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings as compared with the corresponding period in 2020.

(1) ooooooooooArPd

goooooooooOooooooOoooo
oooooooo

@)

goooooboooObb0O0o233000000
01993600 0000000000000
goodzo0e80Odb0bDboOoOooOoOO
geed0000O313%000000000
000379 000000000000API
gooooooooOoOoOoCoboOoooono

good

goooobooobooboooooobooao
goooooboooooOoOoOoocboboOobooa
gooooooso.7r0 00000 O210.10
gooooooooooobO000n02e0.8
0o0o000194% 00000000000
gooooOoooboobooooooooooo
oooo

“HEN HEN HE ALINK HA MACE ICALG @ Ce.LD. 00000000000

ANN AL E @ 202101



Management Discussion and Analysis
OO00O00000

Taxation 00

For the Reporting Period, income tax credit was RMB11.1 million, as compared with gooooooooooooobo1ra0o0Oon
an income tax expense of RMB306.2 million for the corresponding period in 2020, odooooooooooooooooao
representing a decrease of approximately 103.6%. 306.20 000000 103.6%0

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the O O0OOO0OO0OO0OO0OO0O0O0OOO
Company

For the Reporting Period, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was oooooooooOoOoooooOooon
RMB240.8 million, as compared with RMB1,024.2 million for the corresponding ofz4080 0 0000000000000
period in 2020, representing a decrease of approximately 76.5%. 000102420 00000076.5%0

Earnings per Share ooono

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ooooooooooboboOoDOoODOOO
equity holders of the Company, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares ooooooooooboobooobooooOoao
of the Company in issue for the Reporting Period. The diluted earnings per share is ooooooooooooooooooao
calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, by goooooooooooooooooaon
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue for the oooboodoooboboooooooooao
Reporting Period (with adjustments made for all potential dilution effect of the ooooooooood

ordinary shares).

For the Reporting Period, both basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per oooo0oooooooooooooooao
share were RMBO0.16, as compared with RMBO0.76 for the corresponding period in ooooleoobooooOooOoooOo.re

2020, representing a decrease of approximately 78.9%. O0000078.9%0
Liquidity and Financial Resources Oo0o0oDoooDooo
Treasury Policies oooo

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maintain its ability ooooooooooOoOOOO0OOOOOO0
to continue as a going concern so that the Group can constantly provide returns ooooooboooooobooooooo
for shareholders of the Company and benefits for other stakeholders by oobooooooooooooooooao
implementing proper product pricing and securing access to financing at reasonable goooooooooboOoooooooaon
costs. The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure ooo0oooooooooooooooao
and makes adjustments by taking into consideration the changes in economic goooooooOooooOooO0oooOoO0oOooo
conditions, its future capital requirements, prevailing and expected profitability and oooooooooOoooooooooo
operating cash flows, expected capital expenditures and expected strategic oobooooooooOooboooooono
investment opportunities. The Group closely monitors its debt-to-asset ratio, which oooboooOoobooooobooooon
is defined as total borrowings divided by total assets. 0ooa
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Ooooooon

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk arises from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. The Group has transactional currency
exposures and currency exposures from our interest-bearing bank borrowings. The
Group has a foreign currency hedging policy to mitigate our foreign currency risk
and monitor foreign exchange exposure from time to time to adjust our hedging
measures.

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a net foreign exchange loss of
RMB205.0 million, as compared to net foreign exchange loss of RMB248.8 million
for the same period in 2020. Currently, the Group does not employ any financial
instruments to hedge against foreign currency risk.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s liquidity remains strong. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
funds were primary from its ordinary business. As at 31 December 2021, the
Group’s cash and bank balances were approximately RMB1,479.6 million (31
December 2020: approximately RMB1,330.2 million).

As at 31 December 2021, net gearing ratio (total borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents (including restricted cash) divided by total equity) decreased to
approximately 22.45% from approximately 24.55% as at 31 December 2020. Total
cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash) amounted to approximately
RMB2,931.2 million, with total borrowings of approximately RMB5,518.4 million
and total equity of approximately RMB11,523.3 million.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recorded short-term loans of approximately
RMB3,268.2 million (31 December 2020: approximately RMB2,482.0 million) and
long-term loans of approximately RMB2,250.3 million (31 December 2020:
approximately RMB3,085.9 million).

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s assets of approximately RMB2,491.7 million
were pledged to banks and other financial institutions to secure the credit facilities
granted to the Group (31 December 2020: approximately RMB2,563.4 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, neither the Group nor the Company had material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2020: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OOoooodoon

Asset-liability Ratio

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total assets amounted to approximately
RMB19,108.2 million, (31 December 2020: approximately RMB19,025.9 million),
whereas the total liabilities amounted to approximately RMB7,584.9 million (31
December 2020: approximately RMB7,336.9 million). The asset-liability ratio (i.e.,
total liabilities divided by total assets) was approximately 39.7% (31 December
2020: approximately 38.6%).

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates to the
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings with floating interest rates. The
Group’s policy is to manage our interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate
debts. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately 93.7%
interest-bearing borrowings bore interest at fixed rates (31 December 2020:
approximately 86.7%).

Significant Investment Held

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not hold any significant Investment.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Future Plan For Material Investments or Capital Assets

As of December 31, 2021, save for the “Use of Proceeds”, the Group did not have
any existing plan for acquiring other material investments or capital assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Ooooogooad

Indebtedness 00
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
gooooDoOo oooooo
goooooogd gooooooag
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo gooooo
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ooooooooo 5,518,436 5,567,834
Lease liabilities oooo 135,755 77,243
Total financial indebtedness ooogoogod 5,654,191 5,645,077
Pledged bank deposits oopooooo (11,581) (80)
Net financial indebtedness oooooo 5,642,610 5,644,997
The maturity profile of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings is
set out as follows:
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
oooooo oooooo
gooooogd oooooood
RMB’000 RMB’000
gooooo goooo
Repayable: ooooooooo
Within one year or on demand ooooooo 3,268,166 2,481,977
After one year but within two years oooooooo 1,604,635 885,698
After two years but within five years oooooooo 143,412 1,652,246
After five years oooo 502,223 547,913
Total oo 5,518,436 5,567,834
The Group’s bank lending as at 31 December 2021 was approximately RMB3,840.0
million (31 December 2020: RMB3,675.5 million). As at 31 December 2021, the
“HEN HEN HE ALINK HA MACE ICALG @ Ce.,LD.O0000000D000O0DO0O0g ANN AL E @ 20210000
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
OO0o0O0doooooaao

Ms. Li co-founded the Company and was appointed as our Director and deputy
general manager in April 1998. Ms. Li has also been serving as a director of
Topknow since August 2007; the managing partner of Jintiantu since August 2007;
a director of Hepalink (Hong Kong) since June 2014; a director of Shenzhen
Techdow since November 2010; a director of Hepalink USA, since October 2013; a
director of SPL since August 2015; and a director of Kymab Group Limited since
November 2016.

Ms. Li graduated from Chengdu University of Science and Technology (which later
became Sichuan University) in China with a bachelor of science degree in chemistry
in July 1987 and obtained the qualification of senior manager from the Vocational
Skills Identification Center in February 2005.

Mr. Shan Yu (0 0O), aged 61, brother of Ms. Li Tan and brother-in-law of Mr. Li Li,
is our executive Director, co-founder and general manager. Mr. Shan has over 25
years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. He is primarily responsible for
the major decision-making of our Group and oversees the production capacity,
security, logistics and external affairs of our Group. Mr. Shan also actively
participates in the implementation of our Group’s business strategies, including our
strategies in the innovative drugs and CDMO sectors.

Mr. Shan co-founded the Company and was appointed as our Director and general
manager in April 1998. Mr. Shan has also been serving as a director of Shenzhen
Topknow Industrial Development Co., Ltd. since October 2000; a managing partner
of Shuidi Shichuan since August 2007; a director of Chengdu Sunrace Co., Ltd.
since November 2009; a director of Shenzhen Beidi Aoke Technology Development
Co., Ltd. since December 2009; a director of Shandong Ruisheng since July 2010; a
director of Shenzhen Pingshan New District Hepalink Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. since
July 2013; and a director of Hepalink USA since April 2014.

Mr. Shan graduated from Peking University in China with a bachelor of science
degree in applied physics in July 1982 and obtained the qualification of senior
manager from the Vocational Skills Identification Center in February 2005.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
OO0Oo0O0oooooaao

Mr. Zhang Bin (0O O), aged 45, is our executive Director (resigned on April 29,
2022). Mr. Zhang joined the Company and was appointed as an executive Director
in May 2021. Mr. Zhang holds a master’s degree, being a non-practicing member
of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a non-practicing
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. From June 2005
to August 2015, Mr. Zhang worked at KPMG’s offices in China and the United
States, and served as an inspection expert of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board of the United States from August 2015 to February 2016. Since
April 2016, Mr. Zhang has been serving as the financial controller of the Company
and concurrently as director of the wholly-owned subsidiaries or sub-subsidiaries of
the Company, Hepalink USA Inc., SPL Acquisition Corp. and Cytovance Biologics,
Inc. (“Cytovance”) since February 2018. He has been the CEO of Cytovance since
October 2020, and his primary responsibilities include overseeing the financial
activities of the Company, participating in the implementation of the Company’s
business strategies, especially in the fields of innovative drugs and CDMO.

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Lu Chuan (0 ), aged 52, is our independent non-executive Director. Dr. Lu
joined the Company and was appointed as an independent Director in December
2019. Dr. Lu has been serving as a vice president of Huan Yue Interactive Holdings
Limited since October 2019.

Dr. Lu served as an assistant engineer of Nanjing Jinling Shipyard Company Limited
from August 1991 to August 1994. From July 1997 to August 2005, Dr. Lu worked
at Shenzhen Nonferrous Metals Finance Co., Ltd. as a research fellow of the
investment bank department. From August 2005 to November 2018, Dr. Lu worked
as a managing director assistant and deputy general manager of Yinjian
International Industrial Co., Ltd. Dr. Lu served as a director of Shenzhen
Zhonggingbao Interactive Network Co., Ltd. (A share stock code on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange: 300052) from April 2008 to April 2012, a non-executive director
of China Geothermal Industry Development Group Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8128) from September 2008 to
March 2009, a non-executive director of E-Commodities Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1733) from
June 2010 to July 2016, and director of Ningxia West King Liquor Co., Ltd. from
October 2011 to February 2014.

Dr. Lu graduated from Wuhan University of Technology in China with a bachelor’s
degree in naval mechanical engineering in July 1991, graduated from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology in China with a master’s degree in business
management in May 1997 and a doctorate in management in December 2006.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
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Mr. Chen Junfa (0 0O 0O), aged 57, is our independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Chen joined the Company and was appointed as an independent Director in
May 2017. Mr. Chen has also been serving as an independent non-executive
director and an audit committee member of Lomon Billions Group Co., Ltd. (A
share stock code on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange: 002601) since April 2014; an
independent non-executive director and an audit committee member of Shenzhen
Mason Technology Co., Ltd. (A share stock code on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange:
002654) since July 2014; the deputy general manager of Shenzhen Pengxin Asset,
Land and Real Estate Appraisal Co., Ltd. since April 2016; and an independent
non-executive director of O-film Light Group Co., Ltd. (A share stock code on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange: 002456) since November 2017.

Mr. Chen previously served as an independent non-executive director and audit
committee member of Shenzhen Yitoa Intelligent Control Co., Ltd. (A share stock
code on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange: 300131) from May 2011 to November
2017; and an independent non-executive director of Zibo Qixiang Tengda Chemical
Co., Ltd. (A share stock code on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange: 002408) from
March 2014 to April 2017.

Mr. Chen served as a project manager of Shenzhen Zhonghua Accounting Firm
from July 1993 to December 1997. He served as director, chairman of the board
and general manager of Shenzhen Zhongginxin Asset Appraisal Co., Ltd. from
October 2000 to June 2008 and served as the general manager of Shenzhen Jinkai
Zhongqinxin Asset Appraisal Co., Ltd. from June 2008 to December 2009.
Mr. Chen served as the deputy general manager of Shenzhen Dezhengxin
International Asset Appraisal Co., Ltd. from January 2010 to March 2016.

Mr. Chen obtained his bachelor’s degree in engineering from Beijing University of
Science and Technology in China in July 1988 and graduated from Nankai
University in China with a master’s degree in economics majoring in political
economics in July 1993. Mr. Chen became a non-practicing member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in October 1994 and first obtained the
People’s Republic of China Certificate of Certified Public Valuer in August 1997.

Mr. Wang Zhaohui (O O 0O), aged 44, is our independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Wang joined the Company and was appointed as an independent Director in
July 2017. Mr. Wang has also been serving as the founding partner of Ruchuan
Capital Investment Fund since April 2016. From June 2001 to August 2009,
Mr. Wang served as a senior journalist of Chinese College Students magazine.
Mr. Wang served as the public relations manager of Innovation (Beijing) Software
Development Co., Ltd. from September 2009 to January 2011, served as the public
relations manager at Beijing Innovation Ark Technology Co., Ltd. from February
2011 to August 2015, and worked at Sinovation Ventures (Beijing) Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd. as the director and deputy general manager from September
2015 to April 2016.

Mr. Wang graduated from the China University of Geosciences in China with a
bachelor’s degree in engineering in July 2001.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
OO0o0O0doooooaao

Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors, Supervisors and members of senior
management is related to other Directors, Supervisors and members of the senior
management.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Qian Fengqi (O O O), aged 36, is experienced in capital market research and
investment matters, in particular in the healthcare industry in the PRC. Mr. Qian
joined the Company as the president of investment center (0 O 0O O O O) in August
2021, primarily responsible for overseeing the investment activities of the Company
in the healthcare field. Mr. Qian served as a research analyst at Bosera Fund
Management from July 2008 to March 2010, a senior research analyst at Goldman
Sachs Group (China) from August 2010 to August 2013, and a fund manager of
Norges Bank, which manages the assets of the sovereign wealth fund of Norway,
from September 2013 to April 2016, each with a focus on investments in listed
securities of PRC-based healthcare companies. Mr. Qian also served as a managing
director of Lingfeng Capital Management Co., Ltd. (U0 OO0O0O0OOOO), a
private equity fund with a focus on the fintech sector in the PRC, from January
2017 to August 2019 and from November 2020 to August 2021, and the head of
Strategic Investment Department of We Doctor Group (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd. (0 O O
0@ 0O)oooo), adigital medical service provider in the PRC, from August 2019
to November 2020. Mr. Qian graduated from Fudan University with a bachelor of
economics (specialising in finance) degree in July 2008. Mr. Qian obtained the
board secretary certificate granted by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in September
2021.

Ms. Chan Sze Ting (O O ) is a Joint Company Secretary. Ms. Chan currently
serves as an associate director of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited, a
global professional services provider specializing in integrated business, corporate
and investor services. Ms. Chan has over 16 years of experience in the corporate
secretarial field. She has been providing professional corporate services to multiple
Hong Kong listed companies. Ms. Chan is currently a joint company secretary of
Sinopec Shanghai Petrochemical Company Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 338 and listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600688), the company secretary of Sunfonda Group
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1771), Meta Media Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 72), Century Sage Scientific Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1450), Vico
International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1621) and China Oral Industry Group Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8406). Ms. Chan is
a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an Associate of
both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor of laws
degree from the University of London.
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Directors’ Report
O0000

The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a joint stock limited company incorporated under the laws of the
PRC, the predecessor of which, Shenzhen Hepalink Industrial Development
Company Limited (0000000000 DOOQODO), was established under the4
laws of the PRC on April 21, 1998 with a registered share capital of RMB2 million.
The Company completed its initial public offering and listing of its A Shares on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002399) on May 6, 2010. The Company
completed its initial public offering and listing of its H Shares on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, (stock code: HK 9989) on July 8, 2020 (the
“Listing Date”). The Group is a leading China-based pharmaceutical company
with global pharmaceutical, innovative biotech and CDMO businesses.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are shown
under note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue and operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2021 by principal
activities is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report and note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year ended December 31, 2021, which
includes a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, an
analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators,
particulars of important events affecting the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2021, and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business, could be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” in
this annual report. The review and discussion form part of this Directors’ report. An
account of the Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers,
suppliers and others that have a significant impact on the Company is set out in the
environmental, social and governance report of the Company for the Reporting
Period to be published in due course.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The audited consolidated results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out
on pages 91 to 92 of this annual report.

The Board proposed the distribution of a final dividend (the “Final Dividend”) of
RMBO0.35 (tax inclusive) per ten ordinary shares for the year ended December 31,
2021. If such profit distribution proposal is reviewed and approved by shareholders
of the Company at the 2021 annual general meeting to be held on Friday, June 10,
2022 (the “2021 AGM”), the Final Dividend will be distributed no later than
August 15, 2022 to H shares shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company’s H shares on Monday, June 20, 2022. The Final Dividend
is denominated and declared in Renminbi. The Final Dividend payable to the holders
of the Company’s H shares shall be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The amount of
Hong Kong dollars payable shall be calculated on the basis of the average closing
exchange rates for Hong Kong dollars as announced by the Foreign Exchange
Trading Centre of the PRC one calendar week prior to the approval of the Final
Dividend at the 2021 AGM.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 5 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements on
pages 182 to 183 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection and has
not noted any material in compliance with all relevant laws and regulations in
relation to its business including environmental protection, health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment.

The Group has established detailed internal rules regarding environmental
protection, in particular, the discharge of air, water and solid waste and noise
control. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we did not incur any additional
costs specifically attributable to environmental compliance.

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance will be
disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the Reporting Period to be published in due course.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 226
to 227 of this annual report.
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RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current
and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 95 to 96 of this annual report. Details of the movement in the reserves of
the Company during the Reporting Period is set out in note 47 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 264 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2021, the Company’s distributable reserves, calculated in
accordance with PRC rules and regulation, were RMB1,207 million.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company'’s listed securities during the Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association, or
the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE H SHARE LISTING OF
THE COMPANY

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on July 8, 2020. Pursuant to the Global Offering (as defined in the Prospectus), the
Company issued 220,094,500 H Shares of the Company on July 8, 2020 with a
nominal value of RMB1 each at a price of HK$18.40 per H Share, the Company
obtained net proceeds of RMB3,538.3 million.

According to the plan on use of proceeds as set out in the prospectus,
approximately 30% of the net proceeds (or approximately RMB1,061.5 million) is
intended to be used for improving capital structure and repaying the existing debt;
approximately 30% of the net proceeds (or approximately RMB1,061.5 million) is
intended to be used for expansion of the sales and marketing network and
infrastructure in the European Union and other global markets, such as the PRC;
approximately 20% of the net proceeds (or approximately RMB707.7 million) is
intended to be used for expanding our development and manufacturing capacity
and broadening our product and services offering of Cytovance; and approximately
20% of the net proceeds (or approximately RMB707.7 million) is intended to be
used for investment in innovative drugs.
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The table below sets forth a detailed breakdown and description of the use of net

proceeds from the listing of the H Shares as of December 31, 2021:

gooooobOooOocOoOobOobOdHOobOOOo
goooobooooooooooooooo

Net proceeds Utilised as at
from Global 31 December Remaining
Use of proceeds Offering 2021 amount  Expected time of use
ooooooo
0000 oOOoOoooo
oooooo oooooo ooo 0o 0ooooooo
(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)
0000000 0000000 OooOooOooo
Improving capital structure and repaying the 1,061.5 1,034.4 27.1  Within next three years
existing debt from the Listing Date
0o0o0oo0oooooooo oooooos30o
Expansion of the sales and marketing network 1,061.5 - 1,061.5  Within next three years
and infrastructure in the European Union and from the Listing Date
other global markets, such as the PRC
000000000 Ooo0o0o0oO0on oooooos3go
ooooooooooog
Expanding our development and manufacturing 707.7 - 707.7  Within next three years
capacity and broadening our products and from the Listing Date
services offering of Cytovance
OooOoooooooooo opooooos3go
00o0ooooooooooooooo
Investment in innovative drugs 707.7 76.7 631.0  Within next three years
from the Listing Date
oooooooo 0oooooos30o
Total 3,538.4 1,111.1 2,427.3
oo
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As disclosed in the Prospectus, to the extent that the net proceeds from the global
offering are not immediately required for the above purposes or if we are unable to
put into effect any part of our development plan as intended, we may hold such
funds in short-term deposits with licensed banks or authorized financial institutions
in Hong Kong so long as it is deemed to be in the best interests of the Company.
During the Reporting Period, the Company utilized part of the net proceeds for
subscription of short-term, principal-guaranteed, low-risk financial products for
interim treasury management purposes. The Company intends to use the net
proceeds in the same manner and proportion as set out in the Prospectus. Please
see the above table for details of the amounts utilized for subscription of short-term
financial products as of December 31, 2021.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Directors’
Report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Li (Chairman)

Ms. Li Tan (Deputy General Manager)

Mr. Shan Yu (General Manager)

Mr. Sun Xuan (Vice Chairman)
(resigned on May 6, 2021)

Mr. Zhang Bin (appointed on May 26, 2021)
(resigned on April 29, 2022)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Bu Haihua (resigned on April 17, 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Lu Chuan

Mr. Chen Junfa
Mr. Wang Zhaohui

SUPERVISORS

The Supervisors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Directors’
Report are as follows:

Mr. Zheng Zehui (Chairman)

Ms. Tang Haijun
Ms. Su Jilan (Employee Supervisor)

BIOGR 12 APHICAL DETAILS OF THE CTORS
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Mr. Li Li, Ms. Li Tan and Mr. Shan Yu, as executive Directors, each renewed the
service contract with the Company for a term of three years starting from August
31, 2020.

Dr. Lu Chuan, Mr. Chen Junfa and Mr. Wang Zhaohui, as independent
non-executive Directors, each renewed the service contract with the Company for a
term of three years starting from August 31, 2020.

Mr. Zheng Zehui, Ms. Tang Haijun and Ms. Su lilan, as Supervisors, each renewed
the service contract with the Company for a term of three years starting from
August 31, 2020.

The appointments of the Directors and Supervisors are subject to the re-election
upon expiry of their term of office according to the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (excluding contracts
expiring or determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation).

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the
Reporting Period or subsisted at December 31, 2021 and no contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a
Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the
Reporting Period or subsisted at December 31, 2021.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement and contract of significance to the business of the
Group which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director/Supervisor or any entity connected with such a Director/Supervisor had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at December 31, 2021 or
at any time during the Reporting Period.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of Directors, Supervisors and senior management is determined
with reference to factors including the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management, employment conditions of other positions in our Company and the
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 174 to 177 of this annual report.

For the Reporting Period, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director,
Supervisors or any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors
or Supervisors has waived any emoluments for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are payable, for
the year ended December 31, 2021, by our Group to or on behalf of any of the
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021, none of the
Directors and Supervisors or their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a
Director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any other
disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.
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NON-COMPETITION ARRANGEMENTS

Each of the Controlling Shareholders provided certain non-competition
undertakings in favor of the Company. Details of the non-competition agreements
are set out in the section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders

— Competition™ in the Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders confirmed that they have complied with the non-
competition undertakings for the Reporting Period. The independent non-executive
Directors have conducted such review for the Reporting Period and also reviewed
the relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the non-competition undertakings
have been fully complied with.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ and Supervisors’ service contracts and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at December 31, 2021 or at any time during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the Reporting
Period.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan or provided any
guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company, the controlling shareholders of the Company (if any)
or their respective connected persons.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

The valid share incentive schemes of the Group as of the date of this report are as
follows.

Share Incentive Scheme Il (“Scheme 11”) and the Share
Incentive Scheme llI

The Company adopted the Share Incentive Scheme Il (“Scheme II”’) and the Share
Incentive Scheme Il (“Scheme IlI”, and together with Scheme II, the “Schemes”)
in November 2016 and December 2018, respectively. The Schemes are not subject
to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as the Schemes do not involve
the grant of options by the Company to subscribe for new Shares upon our Listing.
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Schemes:

(a) P =" e

The purpose of the Schemes is to promote the success and enhance the value
of the Company by linking the personal interests of the employees to those
of the Shareholders. It is intended to provide flexibility to the Company in its
ability to motivate, attract and retain the services of the employees upon
whose judgment, interest and special effort the successful conduct of the
Company’s operation is largely dependent.

(b)

Scw—evif Pa - [ca'-an .

The participants of Scheme Il are our Directors (excluding our independent
Directors and external Directors), Supervisors (excluding our external
supervisors), senior management and core staff members of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The participants of Scheme Ill are employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries (excluding our Directors, Supervisors and senior management).
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Tem+f pe Scheme

Scheme Il was effective for an initial period of 36 months from December 12,
2016 to December 11, 2019. Scheme lll is effective for a period of 24 months
from December 28, 2018 to December 27, 2020. Within two months prior to
the expiration of the respective term of each Scheme, with the approval of
more than two-thirds of the votes of holders of the interests under relevant
Scheme (the “Holders”), who attend the Holders’ meeting, and subject to
the approval of the Board, the term of the relevant Schemes may be
extended, provided that each extension shall not exceed 12 months. Each
Scheme may be terminated upon expiry of the respective lock-up period as
detailed below when all the assets underlying such Scheme become monetary
assets. On December 6, 2019, the Company, with the Board’s approval,
extended the term of Scheme Il for 12 months, up to December 11, 2020.
On December 4, 2020, the Company, with the Board’s approval, further
extended the term of Scheme Il for 12 months, up to December 11, 2021,
and extended the term of Scheme Il for 12 months, up to December 27,
2021.

5

The Shares underlying the Schemes shall be A Shares purchased from the
secondary market through bidding, block trade, share transfer or other
methods in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

«<e*ifShae nde.- [re Scheme

Ma im m N mbe i f Sha e

All the Shares underlying Scheme Il had been purchased as of March 9, 2017.
As of the date of this report, the total number of Shares underlying Scheme
Il'is 15,118,035 A Shares, accounting for approximately 1.03% of the total
outstanding share capital of the Company.

All the Shares underlying Scheme Ill had been purchased as of February 1,
2019. The total number of Shares underlying Scheme Il is 3,886,264 A
Shares, accounting for approximately 0.26% of the total outstanding share
capital of the Company as of the date of this report.

The maximum number of Shares to be granted to an employee under each
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the total outstanding share capital of the
Company.

(c)

oooo

goooooOooOoooooooao
gopboooooooobooooDooo
ooooboobose0boOoooooooo
goooooooooooogoooaon
Oboo0oooooooobob24000
ooboocoooocooboocooooao
goooooocOoooooboomoon
oooooooooobooooooao
gbobooooooooooooooao
oooooooooooooi1zo00o0n
oooooooooooooooao
goboooooooooooooaon
oooDoooooOoooOooooon
goboooooooooobooooon
012000000000000000
opboooOoDbOOoO0ooOooooooo
gopboooooooooooooao
012000000000000000
ooooobobooo0o0on0oi1200000
goooooooooooo

d) Ooooooo

(e)

gobooocoobooocooooooo
goboooocooooooooooao
obobOoooboooooooooAdOO

oooooo

gobobboooooooboooooao
gobocoooocoobooooooao
ooboooocooooooooooao
0015,118,0350 A0 00000000
000000D01.03%0

obobooooooooboooooaon
gobooooooooboooooaon
gooooooooDbDDnbs,ss6,2640A
oboooooooooooooooaon
000000.26%0

goooooooooooogoooo
goooooDoOOoOoOoOoooooao
1%0

“HEN HEN HE ALINK HA MACE ICALG @ C@. L D. 1joo0ooooot

ANN AL E @

2021 01



(f)

(9)

(h)
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Admini 2 t"onfof pe Scheme

The Holders’ meeting is the highest management authority of the Schemes.
A management committee has been set up to oversee the daily management
of respective Scheme.

For Scheme I, the management committee has appointed Guolian Securities
Co., Ltd. to establish a single customer assets management plan. Guolian
Securities Co., Ltd. is responsible for the management of the assets
underlying Scheme I, including purchasing and holding the Shares and cash
under Scheme Il

For Scheme Ill, the management commit te e has appointed CMS Asset
Management Co., Ltd. to establish a single customer assets management
plan. CMS Asset Management Co., Ltd. is responsible for the management
of the assets underlying Scheme lll, including purchasing and holding the
Shares and cash under Scheme lII.

$ <cenfF nd

s beU ed w P
nde - [we Scheme

L

«<ha e [re Sha e

The source of funds for the Schemes consists of (i) the funds raised by the
participants and (ii) loans provided by the Controlling Shareholders.

The maximum amount of the funds to be raised for Scheme Il and Scheme IlI
shall not exceed RMB400 million and RMB87 million, respectively. The
Holders shall pay the subscription amount before the establishment of the
relevant single customer asset management plan.

L7 ck- — Pe #sd

The first lock-up period lasted until March 10, 2018. The Shares underlying
Scheme Il are not subject to lock-up and have been fully unlocked on June
11, 2019. As of the date of this report, 15,118,035 A Shares remain unsold.

The lock-up period for the Shares underlying Scheme Il is from February 2,
2019 to February 1, 2020, being a period of 12 months commencing from
the date of publication of the announcement in respect of the transfer of the
last batch of Shares to the relevant single customer asset management plan.
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Righ +f he Hnlde -

The Holders of each Scheme are entitled to the following rights:

(1)

to share the interests of the assets underlying the Scheme in proportion
to his holding in the Scheme;

to attend the general meeting of Holders in person or by proxy, and to
exercise the corresponding voting rights;

to supervise the administration of the Scheme, and to make
suggestions or inquiries as applicable;

to waive the voting rights attached to the underlying Shares of the
Company he holds indirectly through the Scheme; and

to exercise other rights stipulated by laws, administrative regulations,
or the terms of the Scheme.

Obliga fsn +f he Hnlde -

The Holders of each Scheme have the following obligations:

(1)

to assume the risks associated with the Scheme in proportion to his
holding in the Scheme;

to comply with the provisions of the Rules Governing Employee Share
Scheme;

not to request the Company to distribute the assets underlying the
Scheme during the term of the Scheme; and

to assume the obligations provided by applicable laws, administrative
regulations and other obligations stipulated under the terms of the
Scheme.

T.an fe s fHslde - ' In ee

During the term of the respective Scheme, no Holder shall in any way

transfer, withdraw, charge or mortgage his holding interests in the Scheme

or use such interests to guarantee or repay debts except for unusual

circumstances as provided under the terms of the relevant Scheme.
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(d) Ma im mN mbe. +f Sha e

The maximum number of shares which may be granted under the OncoVent
Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the total enlarged share
capital of OncoVent taking into account the shares to be issued upon the
exercise of the options.

(e) Te.m+f OnesVen lSha,e o— f"an Scheme

OncoVent Options granted at each stage is valid for a period of four years.
Grantees are subject to a lock-up period of one year commencing from the
grant date.

(f) E eci etsf OnciVen O t"-n

The grantees may exercise the OncoVent Options within ten business days
upon expiry of the lock-up period in accordance with the terms of grant
letters. When OncoVent is listed or sold, the participants may realise the
benefit of share options based on the stock circulation rules at the listing
place or the value of OncoVent at the time of sale. The participant may
choose to convert the option into actual investment to OncoVent.

The exercise price per OncoVent share underlying the OncoVent Options shall
be determined by the Administrator with reference to the fair value of
OncoVent. If OncoVent carries out financing transactions within the
preceding twelve months, the fair value shall be determined with reference
to the valuation of OncoVent for the purpose of such financing transactions.
If no financing transaction is carried out during such twelve months’ period,
the fair value shall be determined by the Administrator.

O | anding OnesVen O-fwn Gan ed

The proposal to grant the OncoVent Options under the OncoVent Share Option
Scheme as set out above has been approved by the boards of OncoVent and the
Company. OncoVent proposes to grant OncoVent Options representing 4% of the
enlarged share capital of OncoVent to one participant (namely Mr. Shi Yuenian
(“Mr. Shi”), who acts as the CEO of OncoVent), provided that the participant
reaches the agreed milestones. Mr. Shi will be granted OncoVent Options
representing 2%, 1% and 1% of the enlarged share capital of OncoVent when the
first, second and third milestone is reached, respectively.
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Milestones Conditions

goo oo

The first milestone The participant signs employment contract with OncoVent

gooooo gboobooobooonboo

The second milestone OncoVent new pharmaceutical varieties obtains permission to carry out
Phase Il clinical trials from Chinese pharmaceutical regulatory authorities

gooooo gbooobooboobooboooooomooooo

The third milestone New pharmaceutical varieties obtain permission to sell in the market from
Chinese pharmaceutical regulatory authorities

gooooo gooooOO0o0obOO0oOobOooooooDOooD

The grant date is within one month when each milestone is reached. 40%, 30%
and 30% of the OncoVent Options granted will vest in each of the three years
following the expiry of the one-year lock-up period. When and only when
OncoVent is listed or sold, the grantee can choose to exercise OncoVent Options.
As of December 31, 2020 and the date of this report, the conditions for the first
milestone has been met and the conditions for the remaining milestones have yet
to be met. The exercise price, corresponding to the fair value of the OncoVent
Options granted to Mr. Shi upon the fulfillment of the first milestone, was
approximately RMB1,271,000.
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“L” means holding a long position in Shares.

Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant class of Shares involved divided by the
number of Shares in issue of the relevant class of Shares of the Company as at the December
31, 2021.

Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant class of Shares involved divided by the
number of all Shares in issue of the Company as at the December 31, 2021.

These Shares include: (i) 474,029,899 A Shares held by Shenzhen Leren Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Leren Technology™); (ii) 408,041,280 A Shares held by Urumgqi Jintiantu Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Jintiantu”); and (iii) 40,320,000 A Shares held by Urumqi
Feilaishi Equity Investment Co., Ltd. (“Feilaishi”).

For Leren Technology’s issued share capital, Mr. Li Li holds 99% and Ms. Li Tan holds 1%; for
Jintiantu’s issued share capital, Mr. Li Li holds 1% (as a limited partner) and Ms. Li Tan holds
99% as a general partner; and Feilaishi is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Li Li. Since Leren
Technology, Jintiantu and Feilaishi beneficially own a total of 922,391,179 A Shares in the
Company, and Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan are spouses, Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan are deemed to be
interested in 922,391,179 A Shares beneficially held by Leren Technology, Jintiantu and
Feilaishi according to Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Shan Yu holds 99% of equity interests in Urumqi Shuidi Shichuan Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Shuidi Shichuan™). Thus, he is deemed to be interested in
46,425,600 A Shares held by Shuidi Shichuan. In addition, Mr. Shan also participated in
Scheme Il and has a 38.88% interest in 15,118,035 A Shares held by the asset manager for the
benefit of the participants of the Scheme II.

Mr. Zhang Bin participated in Scheme Il and has a 3.04% interest in 15,118,035 A Shares held
by the asset manager for the benefit of the participants of the Scheme Il. Mr. Zhang resigned
as executive Director with effect from April 29, 2022.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as at the December 31,
2021, none of our Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of the Company has

any interest and/or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or our associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which will be required,
pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as the Directors or chief executive of the Company are aware, as at
December 31, 2021, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) had interests and/or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which are required to be notified to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or had interests or short positions in 5% or
more of the respective type of Shares which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO: 5% or more of the
respective type of Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Number and class

of Shares

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest interested in
googoo

oooad

ogooa gooa ooo

gooooood
gooodobod

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in the relevant
class of
shares**
goooo
goooo
Ooo0o0OnD**

goddad

goooobooobOoobooooboOoooo
gboooooocoobOOoooooooooo
gooocoooobooobobbooobooboboo
gobob0obOoooooooooooxvoozod
sgoooboooooboooooboooooooon
gbobooocoooooboosssonooonoo
ooooo0ooOoobDoO0oo0oOos%u000
oooooo

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the total Shares
in issue***
oooooo
gooooo
g000On***

Leren Technology®®

Beneficial owner

474,029,899 Shares
A Shares(L)*

oooogwa ooooo 474,029,8990]
A (L)*

Jintiantu® Beneficial owner 408,041,280 Shares
A Shares(L)*

goow goooao 408,041,2800

Worldwide Healthcare Trust PLC®

Worldwide Healthcare Trust PLC®

AVICT Global Holdings Limited®

AVICT Global Holdings Limited®

Beneficial owner

oooood

Beneficial owner

ooooo

AD (L)*

11,578,000 Shares
H Shares(L)*
11,578,0000
HO (L)*

12,629,500 Shares
H Shares(L)*
12,629,5000
HO (L)*

38.01%(L)*

38.01%(L)*

32.72%(L)*

32.72%(L)*

5.26%(L)*

5.26%(L)*

5.74%(L)*

5.74%(L)*

32.31%(L)*

32.31%(L)*

27.81%(L)*

27.81%(L)*

0.79%(L)*

0.79%(L)*

0.86%(L)*

0.869%(L)*
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Name of Shareholder
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Nature of Interest

oooo

Number and class
of Shares
interested in
oooaono
oooad

ooo

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in the relevant
class of
shares**
ooooo
ooooo
goOo0OD**

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the total Shares
in issue***
oooooo
ooooo
g0o00n***

OrbiMed Capital LLC®

OrbiMed Capital LLC®

Morgan Stanley Investments (UK)®

Morgan Stanley Investments (UK)®

Morgan Stanley International Limited®

Morgan Stanley International Limited®

Morgan Stanley International
Holdings Inc.®

Morgan Stanley International
Holdings Inc.®

Investment manager

oooo

Interest in controlled
corporation
oogoooo

Interest in controlled
corporation
gooogooo

Interest in controlled
corporation
goooooao

21,049,500 Shares
H Shares(L)*
21,049,5000
HO (L)*

38,215,400 Shares
H Shares(L)*
38,215,4000
HO (L)*
100,000 Shares
H Shares(S)*
100,0000
HO (S)*

38,215,400 Shares
H Shares(L)*
38,215,4000
HO (L)*
100,000 Shares
H Shares(S)*
100,0000
HO (S)*

38,215,400 Shares
H Shares(L)*
38,215,4000
HO (L)*
100,000 Shares
H Shares(S)*
100,0000
HO (S)*

9.56%(L)*

9.56%(L)*

17.36%(L)*

17.36%(L)*

0.04%(S)*

0.04%(S)*

17.36%(L)*

17.36%(L)*

0.04%(S)*

0.04%(S)*

17.36%(L)*

17.36%(L)*

0.04%(S)*

0.04%(S)*

1.43%(L)*

1.43%(L)*

2.60%(L)*

2.60%(L)*

0.01%(S)*

0.01%(S)*

2.60%(L)*

2.60%(L)*

0.01%(S)*

0.01%(S)*

2.60%(L)*
2.60%(L)*
0.01%(S)*
0.01%(S)*S)*

100,0000
HO (S)*
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Number and class

of Shares

Nature of Interest interested in
ogoooano

ogooad

good ooo

Approximate

percentage of Approximate
shareholding percentage of
in the relevant shareholding in
class of the total Shares
shares** in issue***
goooo oooooo
gooooo ooooo
goooOnD** g0o00On***
ooo
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0000000043,6000000A0000000
oooooo

3) OrbiMed Partners Master Fund Limited
[ OPM [ Worldwide Healthcare Trust PLC
[ WWHTO OrbiMed Global Healthcare Master
Fund, L.P(0 OGH[O OrbiMed New Horizons
Master Fund, L.P(0 ONHLIIO OrbiMed Genesis
Master Fund, L.P(0 Genesis(DO OO0 O OO0
00 05,892,0000 HO 0 11,578,0000 HO O
1,263,3000 HO O 1,263,3000 HO O 1,052,900
HO O

OrbiMed Capital LLCO OPMO O 0O O O O WWH
00000000 OorbiMed Advisors LLCO O OGHO
ONHO Genesisd 0O O 0 00 OrbiMed Advisors
LLCO OrbiMed Capital LLCO O O OO0 O OO

OrbiMed Capital LLCO OrbiMed Advisors LLCO
0 O Carl L. Gordon[ Sven H. Borho[ Jonathan
T.SilversteinD 00000000000 OOOO
0og
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4) AVICT Global Holdings Limited Hangyuan
Holdings Limited
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the Reporting Period, the Group’s largest customer accounted for 10.24% of the
Group'’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest customers accounted for 33.84% of
the Group’s total revenue.

In the Reporting Period, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 6.86% of the
Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 21.51% of
the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined under the Listing
Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

As at the date of this annual report, the Company is not aware of any tax relief or
exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

In accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China
(DO0OO0OO0DOODOD0O0O0O0)and its implementation regulations which came into
effect on January 1, 2008, the Company is required to withhold and pay enterprise
income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of the non-resident enterprise
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members for H Shares when
distributing the cash dividends. Any H Shares not registered under the name of an
individual Shareholder, including HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees, agents
or trustees, or other organizations or groups, shall be deemed as Shares held by
non-resident enterprise Shareholders. Therefore, on this basis, enterprise income
tax shall be withheld from dividends payable to such Shareholders. If holders of H
Shares intend to change its Shareholder status, please enquire about the relevant
procedures with your agents or trustees. The Company will strictly comply with the
law or the requirements of the relevant government authority and withhold and
pay enterprise income tax on behalf of the relevant Shareholders based on the
register of members for H Shares as of the Record Date.

If the individual holders of H Shares are Hong Kong or Macau residents or residents
of the countries which had an agreed tax rate of 10% for the cash dividends to
them with the PRC under the relevant tax agreement, the Company should
withhold and pay individual income tax on behalf of the relevant Shareholders at a
rate of 10%. Should the individual holders of H Shares be residents of the countries
which had an agreed tax rate of less than 10% with the PRC under the relevant tax
agreement, the Company shall withhold and pay individual income tax on behalf of
the relevant Shareholders at a rate of 10%. In that case, if the relevant individual
holders of H Shares wish to reclaim the extra amount withheld due to the
application of 10% tax rate, the Company can apply for the relevant agreed
preferential tax treatment provided that the relevant Shareholders submit the
evidence required by the notice of the tax agreement to Tricor Investor Services
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Limited. The Company will assist with the tax refund after the approval of the
competent tax authority. Should the individual holders of H Shares be residents of
the countries which had an agreed tax rate of over 10% but less than 20% with
the PRC under the tax agreement, the Company shall withhold and pay the
individual income tax at the agreed actual rate in accordance with the relevant tax
agreement. In the case that the individual holders of H Shares are residents of the
countries which had an agreed tax rate of 20% with the PRC, or which has not
entered into any tax agreement with the PRC, or otherwise, the Company shall
withhold and pay the individual income tax at a rate of 20%.

HUMAN RESOURCES
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained the public float as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s liability insurance is currently in
force and was in force during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance
and has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “Corporate Governance Code™). During the
Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
in the Corporate Governance Code.

In order to maintain high standards of corporate governance, the Board will
continuously review and monitor the Company’s corporate governance code.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 61 to 80 of this annual report.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Company made donations of RMB2.7 million.

AUDITOR

The H Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on July 8, 2020, and there has
been no change in auditors of the Company since the Listing Date. The
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period have been
audited by Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For the Reporting Period, the Company is in compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.
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Failure to attain market acceptance among the medical community would
have a material adverse impact on our operations and profitability;

The retail prices of certain of our products are subject to price control or
downward adjustment by the government authorities or other pricing
pressure;

Sales of our enoxaparin sodium injection products depend on the
reimbursement policies of the governmental authorities and health insurers.
Failure to obtain or maintain adequate medical insurance coverage and
reimbursement for our pharmaceutical products could limit our ability to
market those products and decrease our ability to generate revenue;

If our products are not manufactured to the necessary quality standards, it
could harm our business and reputation, and our revenue and profitability
could be adversely affected;

If we suffer substantial disruption to any of our production sites or encounter
problems in manufacturing our products, our business and results of
operations could be adversely affected;

Fluctuations in prices of our raw materials may have a material adverse effect
on us if we are not able to transfer the cost increase to our customers;

If we are unable to successfully complete clinical development, obtain
regulatory approval and commercialize our product candidates, or experience
significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed;

Our CDMO business is dependent on our customers’ spending on and
demand for outsourced biologics discovery, development and manufacturing.
A reduction in spending or demand could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and
prospects;

If we or parties on whom we rely fail to comply with the laws and regulations
related to, or maintain the necessary licenses for, the development,
production, sales and distribution of our products, our ability to conduct our
business could be materially impaired; and

Goodwill comprises a substantial portion of our total assets; if we determine
our goodwill to be impaired, it would adversely affect our financial position.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On April 1, 2022, the Company’s public offering of corporate bonds to professional
investors in 2022 (hereinafter referred to as the “bonds”) will be no more than
RMB500 million, and the issue price will be RMB100 each. The issuance time of the
current bond is from March 31, 2022 to April 1, 2022, the actual issuance scale is
RMB500 million, and the coupon rate is 3.9%.

On March 16, 2022, the Company received a notice from the investor of the
corporate bond 19 Hepalink, requiring the Company to repurchase 7,000,000
shares of 19 Hepalink according to the repurchase plan of the non-publicly issued
corporate bond 19 Hepalink (stock code: 114455) in 2019. The principal of the
bond is RMB700,000,000.00.

Saved as disclosed above, there were no important events affecting the Company
and its subsidiaries which occurred after December 31, 2021 and up to the date of
this Directors’ Report.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Li Li

Chairman

Shenzhen, PRC, April 11, 2022

goobodn

goooooooodoboooooooooao
gooooO0ooooobOoO0obboOoooooOo
go0moocooooooooosgooooao
gooooooooleo0poooOOOODOO
goooooooobobOOoOoOoOoooooo
goboooooboobooooosobobooo
00 03.9%0

gooooooooooboooooooo
gi1000000000000000000
goo0O0000190000000011445500
gooooooooooonyoo0,0000190
goobooooooooonov7oo,000,000.00
oo

goOooooboobooooooboooboo
Joooooooooooooooobooo
gooooooboooOOoOocOoOoOooooo

ooooo
oooo
ooo

gooooooooooDoOoOoOo

“HEN HEN HE ALINK HA MACE ICALG @ C@. L D. 1000000000l

ANN AL E @ 202101



Corporate Governance Report

OO0ooagn

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report for the Reporting
Period in this annual report (the “Corporate Governance Report”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving good corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are essential in
providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance Code (the “New
CG Code™) came into effect and the requirements under the New CG code will
apply to corporate governance reports for financial year commencing on or after 1
January 2022. The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles as set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14
(the Corporate Governance Code before the amendments took effect on 1 January
2022) to the Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that throughout the whole Reporting Period, the Company
has complied with all the applicable code provisions as set out in the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (the “Corporate Governance Code™).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has devised its own code of conduct for the trading of securities by
its directors, supervisors and members of senior management of the Group (who
are likely to possess inside information about the securities of the Company due to
their offices or employments in the Company or its subsidiaries) on terms that no
less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code. Having made
specific enquiry by the Company, all directors, supervisors and members of senior
management of the Group have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code from the Listing Date to the date of
this report. The Company continues and will continue to ensure the compliance
with the corresponding provisions set out in the Model Code.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Code provision C.2.1 of the New CG Code (Equivalent to code provision A.2.1 of

the previous Corporate Governance Code) stipulates that the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The Chairman and General Manager (equivalent to Chief Executive Officer) of the
Company are held by Mr. Li Li and Mr. Shan Yu respectively, thus we have complied
with Code provision C.2.1. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and the General Manager has been clearly established.

Independent Non-executive Directors
During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times fulfilled the requirements of the

Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors representing one-third of the board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) of the

Company are appointed for a specific term of three years and are eligible for re-
election upon expiry of their term of office in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.
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Responsibilities of the Directors
The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides
direction to management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance, and
ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high
standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the
Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company and
may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses, for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and
coordinating the daily operation and management of the Company are delegated
to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to

effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for
Directors would be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, all Directors attended training sessions
on the respective obligations of the Directors and senior management. In addition,
relevant reading materials including legal and regulatory update have been
provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.

The record of continuous professional development relating to director’s duties and
regulatory and business development that have been received by the Directors for
the year ended December 31, 2021 is summarized as follows:
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Type of Training Not

Directors oo googee
E ec jeDiec?. oooo
Mr. Li Li oooad A/B
Ms. Li Tan ooood A/B
Mr. Shan Yu goood A/B
Mr. Zhang Bin oooo

(appointed on May 26, 2021) goo0oboo0oobooobooboboo

(resigned on April 29, 2022) gooboooboooooobogobo A/B
Inde-enden Nsn-E ec | e Diec% .- ooooooo
Dr. Lu Chuan gooad A/B
Mr. Chen Junfa ooooo A/B
Mr. Wang Zhaohui ooooao A/B
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chen Junfa, Dr. Lu Chuan and Mr. Wang Zhaohui. Mr. Chen Junfa is
the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than
those set out in the Corporate Governance Code and in compliance with the

relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The
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The Audit Committee also met the external auditors 1 time without the presence of
the executive Directors.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under “Attendance
Record of Directors and Committee Members”.

Remuneration and Evaluation Committee
The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee consists of two Independent Non-

executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Zhaohui and Mr. Chen Junfa, and one
Executive Director, namely Mr. Li Li. Mr. Wang Zhaohui is the chairperson of the
Remuneration and Evaluation Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code and in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The main duties of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee include but are
not limited to:

. formulating remuneration plans or schemes based on the main
responsibilities, scope and importance of the management positions of the
directors and senior management, and the remuneration levels of similar
positions in other enterprises; and making recommendations to the Board as
to the overall performance appraisal and remuneration management system
and structure for the directors and senior management, and the
establishment of proper and transparent formulation procedures of the
remuneration policy;

. reviewing and approving the management’s proposal on remuneration based
on the corporate goals and objectives set by the Board;

. the appraisal and remuneration management system includes but is not
limited to performance appraisal criteria and procedures, the main appraisal
system, and the principal plan and system regarding incentive and penalty;

. determining, with delegated responsibility of the Board, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management or making
recommendations to the Board for the remuneration package of individual
executive directors and senior management. This should include benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

. making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

. considering the remuneration package, time commitment, scope of
responsibility of similar companies and other employment terms of other
positions within the Group;
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. reviewing and approving the compensation due to executive directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment, so
as to ensure that such compensation is consistent with the contractual terms;
if such compensation is not consistent with the contractual terms, ensuring
that it is fair, reasonable and not excessive;

. reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to the
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct or the like, so as to ensure
that such arrangements are consistent with the contractual terms; if such
compensation is not consistent with the contractual terms, ensuring that it is
reasonable and appropriate;

. ensuring that no director or any of his associates is involved in the
determination of his remuneration;

. evaluating the performance of duties by the directors and senior
management of the Company and conducting the annual performance
evaluation on them;

. supervising the implementation of the Company’s remuneration system; and
. other matters as authorized by the Board.

The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee held 1 meeting in 2021. The
following is a summary of the major tasks carried out by the Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee in 2021:

. To review the results of evaluation for members of senior management of
the Company for 2020

- To review the remunerations for directors and members of senior
management of the Company for 2020

. To review the remuneration policy and structure of all Directors and senior
management of the Company

The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee believes that the remuneration
scheme for directors and members of senior management complies with the
Company’s relevant system and requirements of current operation and
management of the Company, and remunerations disclosed are in line with the
actual situation.

The attendance records of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee are set out
under “Attendance Records of Directors and Committee Members™.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band for the year ended
December 31, 2021 are set out below:
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Remuneration band (RMB) Number of person(s) ooooooooo oo
Nil to 1,000,000 — 0[O 1,000,000 —
1,000,001 to 3,000,000 — 1,000,0010 3,000,000 —
3,000,001 to 5,000,000 3 3,000,0010 5,000,000 3

5,000,001 to 8,000,000 —

5,000,0010 8,000,000 —
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Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists of two Independent Non-executive Directors,

namely Dr. Lu Chuan and Mr. Chen Junfa, and one Executive Director, namely
Mr. Li Li. Dr. Lu Chuan is the chairperson of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting terms
than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code and in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not limited to:

. formulating and reviewing the Board diversity policy; evaluating the structure,
size and composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least once a year and making recommendations to the Board on the
size and composition of the Board based on the Company’s operating
activities, asset size and equity structure; and when considering the
combination of the members of the Board, ensuring the balance between
executive and nonexecutive directors (including independent directors) and
considering from multiple aspects of the diversity of the members of the
Board, including but not limited to their gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience;

. studying the selection criteria and procedures for directors and senior
management and putting forward proposals to the Board;

. searching extensively for qualified candidates for the roles of directors and
senior management;

. examining and putting forward proposals in relation to the candidates for
the roles of directors (including independent directors) and senior
management;

. making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-

appointment of directors and succession planning for directors (in particular,
the chairman and the general manager);

. evaluating the independence of the independent directors; and

. other matters as authorized by the Board.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take into
account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in
the Company’s Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board,
where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.
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In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination
Committee would consider the candidate’s character, qualifications, experience,
independence, time commitment and other relevant criteria necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate,
before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held 3 meetings in 2021. The following is a summary

of the major tasks carried out by the Nomination Committee in 2021:

. To nominate candidates for non-independent directors of the fifth Board of
the Company

. To formulate a director nomination policy

. To nominate candidates for the fifth session of the Board of the Company

. To nominate candidates for the Board secretary of the fifth session of the
Company
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Corporate Governance Functions
The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions set out in the

code provision A.2.1 (Equivalent to code provision D.3.1 of the previous Corporate
Governance Code) of the New CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of
the Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each director during their tenure of office at the Board
and Board Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held
during the Reporting Period is set out in the table below:
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

poooooooo

Other General

Meetings and

Remuneration A Share Class

and Annual Meeting and

Audit Evaluation Nomination Strategy General  H Share Class

Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting meeting

pooooo

OADDO

0oooo

poo HOOO

pooo ooo 0oooo poooo ooooo ooooo oooooo oooo

Mr. LiLi 10/10 N/A 11 33 0/0 11 11

oooo 10/10 ooo 1 303 0/0 111 11

Ms. Li Tan 10/10 N/A N/A N/A 0/0 0/1 01

oooo 10/10 0oo ooo 0oo 0/0 01 011

Mr. Shan Yu 10/10 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11 11

oooo 1010 poo poo ooo poo n 11

Mr. Sun Xuan (resigned on May 6, 2021) 414 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

oooooobooCooOoOOoOOoOooo 4/4 ooo ooo ooo poo ooo ooo

Mr. Zhang Bin (appointed on May 26, 2021)

(resigned on April 29, 2022) 6/6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 0/1
poooioooboOoOoOoOOOUOOOo

gooooOoooooboooboo 6/6 ooo ooo ooo ooo ooo 0/1

Mr. Bu Haihua (resigned on April 17, 2021) 212 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

pooo0ooooooOoOOOOOOOo 212 ooo ooo ooo ooo ooo ooo

Dr. Lu Chuan 10/10 4/4 N/A 33 0/0 11 11

oooo 10/10 4/4 ooo 313 0/0 11 11

Mr. Chen Junfa 10/10 4/4 11 313 N/A 11 11

ooooo 10710 4/4 11 313 ooo 11 171

Mr. Wang Zhaohui 10/10 414 11 N/A NIA 11 111

ooooo 10/10 414 1n ooo ooo 1n n
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. where the advice from an independent professional, such as that from a
financial adviser, is reasonably requested by our Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors), the appointment of such an
independent professional will be made at the Company’s expenses; and

. we have appointed Somerley Capital Limited as our compliance adviser,
which will provide advice and guidance to us in respect of compliance with
the applicable laws and the Listing Rules including various requirements
relating to corporate governance.

All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to identify risks
that potentially impact the business of the Group and various aspects, including key
operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each department.

The Board had reviewed the risk management and internal control systems,
including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the Reporting
Period, and considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual
review also covered the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff in the aforementioned systems and of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting function, and the adequacy of their training programs
and budget.

The Board confirms its responsibility for supervising the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually
through the Audit Committee. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failing to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Group internal audit and the Audit Committee assist the Board in the review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on the
basis of continuity. The directors through these committees are kept regularly
appraised of significant risks that may impact on the Group’s performance.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in performing its supervision and corporate
governance roles in the Group’s financial, operational, compliance, risk
management, internal controls, the resourcing of the finance and internal audit
functions by reviewing the working report from internal audit and external audit.
During the Reporting Period, the Group internal audit conducted selective reviews
of the effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal controls of the
Group in respect of financial, operational and compliance controls with emphasis
on information technology and security, information privacy and protection,
business continuity management and procurement. Such results were assessed by
the Group internal audit and reported to the Audit Committee, which then
reviewed and reported the same to the Board. The Audit Committee and the Board
were not aware of any areas of concern that would have a significant impact on
the Group’s financial position or results of operations and considered the risk
management and internal control systems to be generally effective and adequate
including the sufficiency of resources, staff qualifications and experience, adequate
training programs for the staff and budget of the accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a general guide to
the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

Regarding the procedure and internal control over handling and propagation of the
inside information, the Group has adopted an inside information management
policy which has been disseminated to all the staff. Based on the policy and in
order to ensure that the inside information would be processed and propagated in
compliance, the Group has established monitoring measures to ensure that the
potential inside information could be recognized, assessed and then provided to
the Board for their decision that whether a disclosure is required.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors, Supervisors and senior management receive their remuneration in
the form of salary and allowances, employer’s contribution to pension schemes,
annual bonuses and independent directors’ fee.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors of the Group in
respect of audit services for the year ended December 31, 2021 amounted to
RMB7.1 million.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditors of the
Group, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended
December 31, 2021 is set out below:
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Fees Paid/Payable

0ooooooo

RMB’000

Service Category oooo ooooog
Audit Services — annual audit for the year 0000 —ooooooo

ended December 31, 2021 0ooooooooooooooo 7,050

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

During the period from the September 18, 2020 to October 27, 2021, Ms. Tan
Xuan and Ms. Chan Sze Ting of Tricor Services Limited (an external service provider)
were the joint company secretaries of the Company.
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On October 27, 2021, Ms. Tan Xuan resigned from his position as the joint
company secretary of the Company and Mr. Qian Fengqi has been appointed as the
joint company secretary of the Company with effect from October 27, 2021. The
main contact of Ms. Chan Sze Ting at the Company is Mr. Qian Fengqi, the Board
Secretary of the Company.

The joint company secretaries of the Company have complied with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training
during the year.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company secretaries
on corporate governance and board practices related matters.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution should be
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including the
election of individual Director All resolutions put forward at general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general
meeting.

Convening Shareholders’ General Meetings
A shareholders’ annual general meeting is required to be held once every year

within six months following the end of the previous financial year. An extraordinary
general meeting is required to be held within two months subsequent to the
occurrence of any of the following:

. when the number of directors is less than the minimum number required by
the Company Law, or is less than two thirds of the number stipulated in the

Articles of Association;

. when the uncovered loss is more than one-third of the Company’s total share
capital;

. when any of the shareholders individually or jointly holding no less than 10%
of total number of the Company’s voting shares make any written request to
convene the meeting;

. when the Board deems it necessary to convene the meeting;

. when the Supervisory Committee proposes to convene the meeting; and
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A shareholders’ general meeting shall be convened by the Board, and chaired by
the Chairman of the Board. In the event that the Chairman is incapable of
performing or is not performing his/her duties, the meeting shall be presided over
by the Vice Chairman. In the event that the Vice Chairman is incapable of
performing or is not performing his/her duties, a Director jointly nominated by half
or more of the Directors shall preside over the meeting.

A shareholders’ general meeting convened by the Supervisory Committee shall be
chaired by the chairman of the Supervisory Committee. Where the chairman of the
Supervisory Committee is incapable of performing or is not performing his/her
duties, a supervisor jointly recommended by more than one half of the supervisors
shall chair the meeting.

A Shareholders’ general meeting convened by the shareholders themselves shall be
chaired by a representative elected by the convener. If for any reason the convener
fails to elect a chairperson, the shareholder (including proxy thereof) holding the
most voting shares thereat shall chair the meeting (other than HKSCC Nominees).

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
Shareholders individually or jointly holding 3% or more of the Shares of the

Company can propose extraordinary proposals and sub meOB7 Tmgn2ve elFp ,ener
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Policies relating to Shareholders
The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy to ensure that

Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The policy is
regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

Shareholders’ communication policy
The Board has reviewed the shareholders’ communication policy for the Reporting

Period and consider the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy to be sufficient and adequate.

Dividend Policy
The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends pursuant to code

provision F.1.1 (Equivalent to code provision E.1.5 of the previous Corporate
Governance Code) of the New CG Code. The articles of the Company contain the
profit distribution policy, setting out, among others, the principles and forms of
profit distribution, the conditions and proportion of cash distribution, the period of
profit distribution, the conditions of dividend distribution of shares, the decision-
making process and mechanism of profit distribution, and the principles for
adjusting the profit distribution policy. At the end of each financial year, profit
distribution proposal will be formulated by the Board, and will be subject to
shareholders’ approval. The Board should complete the dividend distribution within
2 months after the holding of the shareholders’ meeting.
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Key audit matters (Gsn in ed)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
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Key Audit Matter
gooooo

gboboooo

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
gooobooobooboboobooo

Revenue recognition (Continued)

ooooooo

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the revenue of CDMO
services was RMB813,104,000. Among which, the revenue
recognised over time and at a point in time were
RMB701,180,000 and RMB111,924,000, respectively. For CDMO
services, Shenzhen Hepalink Pharmaceutical Group Co. Ltd.
identified the goods or services stated in the CDMO services
contracts as performance obligations, and revenue is recognised
upon analysing the present right to payment for the CDMO
services and the point when a customer obtains control of the
goods or services. For performance obligation to be delivered
over time, revenue is recognised according to the progress of
performing the respective obligation.
goo0oDbO0oO0ooobbOoooobboooocebMoO oo
go0DbO0O0D0bs13,104,0000000000DO00O00DOODOO
0000 O0O0ODO0ODbOoOO0DOOovo1,180,0000 000 DO
111,924,000 00CDMOO0 0 000D OOOOODODOOOO
gooooocoMoOOOODOOOODODOOOODODOOODO
gooocoMOODDOOODDDOOODODDOOODDOODO
o0o0o000oOOooOO0OO0O0OoOoOooDoOoOOOoOOOoOooOoOOO
gboobo0ooboobooooboobooono

As revenue recognition criteria of the Group involved judgement
as explained above, we considered this as a key audit matter.
gobooboooobooobooboooboooobooo
gooooooooo

®)

(4)

For revenue from sales of goods, we performed tests of
details to check supporting documents including sales
contracts and other related supporting documents and
evaluated whether the relevant revenue recognition is in
compliance with the accounting policy for revenue
recognition of Shenzhen Hepalink Pharmaceutical Group
Co., Ltd.;

000000000000 0DOo0oO0OoOoDOoDoDoUOoOoOOo
0000000000000 0DDO0ODODoDoODoDOooOoOo
oo0ooo0o0ooOOoO0oCocOO0OOO0DCOOO0OOoOOoOOO
ooooooo

For revenue from CDMO services, we performed tests of
details on supporting documents by selecting samples from
sales transactions and inspected whether the performance
obligations had been met at the point of recognising
corresponding revenue:

gocoMoOU 0O OOODODOODODOODOOOOOOOO
000000000 O0OO0D0oOoO0oDoOO0oO0DooOOoOoooO
000oo00oooooooo

(1) For performance obligations satisfied over time, we
evaluated whether the “over time” criteria had been
met and evaluated the accuracy of the progress of
the performance;
go0oo0oobob0ooDoooobooooobobo
gooooooObOooOOboooooooboboboboo
god

(i)  For performance obligations satisfied at a point in
time, we checked the supporting evidence of the
services transferred/delivery of units produced.
ooo0ooOoOOoOOOOODOOODOODODOOOOO
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Key audit matters (Gsn in ed)

Key Audit Matter
gooooo

gboboooo

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
gooobooobooboboobooo

Revenue recognition (Continued)

ooooo

Refer to note 2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, note 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES and note 5 REVENUE to the consolidated financial
statements for accounting policies and disclosure related to
revenue recognition.

00000000000 0240000000000030000
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We selected samples of transactions of sales of goods
before and after the balance sheet date and checked to
supporting documents including goods delivery note and
logistics documents, etc., to evaluate whether the relevant
revenue was recorded accurately in the proper accounting
period;

000000000000 ooooooooooooo
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We compared the revenue from sales of goods, from CDMO
services and other operating income, as well as gross profit
margins for the current year with those of the previous year,
and analysed the variance; and
gooboooooecbMOOODODOOOoDDOOODOOO
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oooooog

We reviewed the sufficiency and completeness of the
disclosure of revenue in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Key audit matters (Gsn in ed)

Key Audit Matter
gooooo
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
gooobooobooboboobooo

Impairment of goodwill

oooo

At 31 December 2021, the carrying value of goodwill in the
consolidated financial statements amounted to
RMB2,152,201,000.
o0o0000oOooOO0OO0O0OoO0O0OoDOooOOOOOoOooOoOOO
000 02,152,201,0000 O

In accordance with IFRSs, the Group is required to perform the
impairment test for goodwill at least on an annual basis. The
goodwill impairment test is based on the recoverable amount of
each cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the goodwill is
allocated. The recoverable amount of the CGU has been
determined based on the higher of the value in use (“VIU”’) and
fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”). In determining the
recoverable amount, the Group engaged independent valuers to
perform the impairment test for goodwill.
0000000000000 OD0D0DU0D0O0Do0ooDoUooOooo
0000000000000 0DU0D0DO0OD0ODO0OO0D0DUDOoOOoOOoOO
00000000 oOoOOoO00O0OoDOoOOO0OOO0OoOOOO
ooo0o0o0oO0oO0OoooOoOOO0OO0O0OO0OO0DODOoDOoDOoOoOoOOOOO
O0oO0ooO0ooooOooOoooooooo

In performing the impairment test for goodwill, key assumptions
and judgements were used by the Group, for example, when the
recoverable amount of the CGU was determined based on VIU,
key assumptions including the CGU’s cash flow forecast, revenue
growth rates and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation (“EBITDA™) rate of forecast periods, and the
pre-tax discount rates; and when the recoverable amount of the
CGU was determined based on FVLCD, key assumptions including
the selection of comparable companies, etc.

00000000000 D0D0OD0D0D0OO00DoDOo0oDOooooao
oo0o000oooOO0OO00oOoOooOoOOO0OO0DOoOoOoOoooOOoOO
ooooOoO0oO0O0OOoOoDO0OOoDOoDOOOOOOOOOOOOOO
0000000000000 O0O@EBITDACDOOOOOOO
goooOoO0oOoO0OooOoOOOOoDOoOOoDOOOOOODOOOOO
O0o00o0oOoooooOooOooOooo

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:
O0o00oO0ooOoooooooo

(1) We evaluated and tested the design and the operating
effectiveness of the controls in relation to goodwill
impairment testing;

0000000000000 0oO0oD0DooOoDoooooaOo
oooooo

(2)  We evaluated the base data used in cash flow forecast by
comparing those to the historical data;
goobOooocboooboooboooboobbooo

(3) We ascertained and assessed the revenue growth rates
adopted for the forecast periods by comparing those to the
historical revenue growth rates;

00000000 OoOoO0o0oOoOooOOoOoooOoOoooO
ooooooo

(4) We evaluated the EBITDA rates of forecast periods by
comparing those to the historical corresponding rates;
OO0OO0O0OD0OOODOEBTDAOODOODOOODOOODOOO

(5) We involved internal valuation specialists to assist in
evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used by the
Group, such as the pre-tax discount rate, etc;
goodoobo0dooboobono bDoboobobooboooboo
gooooooboo

(6) We evaluated the comparable companies, and the data of
comparable companies selected by the Group/its
independent valuers;

0000 0O0O0O0OO0OO0OO0OOODOoDO0O0OO0OoDOoOoOooOoooo
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Oo0o0o0ooad

Key audit matters (Gsn in ed)

Key Audit Matter
gooooo

gboboooo

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
gooobooobooboboobooo

Impairment of goodwill (Continued)

ooooooo

The judgements and estimates involved will be significantly
influenced by management’s assessment of future market and
economic changes, which in turn will pose significant impacts on
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill is
allocated. In light of this, we considered this as a key audit
matter.
gobooboboobOoobooboobooboobooboo
goboobobooOoobooboboooboobbobobooo
gbooboboooboooboUooooboboboobooobooo

Refer to note 2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, note 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES and note 16 GOODWILL to the consolidated financial
statements for accounting policies and disclosures related to
goodwill impairment.

00000000000 024000000000003000
0Oo0000O0OCocOoOoO0o1e00000CO0O00OO0OCoOoDOoooonO
oopooooo

@)

®)

We reviewed mathematically the calculations of VIU;
0000000000 O0oOooOooo

We ascertained the profile of independent valuers engaged
by the Group and evaluated their competence, capabilities
and objectivity; and

0000 0000000000 O0OO0OO0DO0OoDOoDOoOoOoOo
ooo0ooooooo

We reviewed the sufficiency and completeness of the
disclosures of goodwill in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.
gobobooboboboboobooooooooooo
ooo
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Oo0o0o0ooad

Key audit matters (Gsn in ed)

Key Audit Matter
gooooo

gboboooo

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
gooobooobooboboobooo

Assessment of fair value of financial instruments
oopooooooooo

At 31 December 2021, the fair value of the Group’s financial
assets which are measured at fair value amounted to
RMB2,452,542,000.
oo0oooo0ooooO0oO0oOoooO0ooooO0oO0oO Ooooo
00000000000 D2,452,542,0000 0

The valuation of financial instruments is based on a combination
of market data and valuation models which often require a
considerable number of inputs. Many of these inputs are
obtained from readily available data. For financial assets classified
under the fair value hierarchy as Level 1 and 2, inputs of
valuation models include the quoted market price and observable
data. When such observable data is not readily available, that
means the financial instruments under the Level 3 of fair value
hierarchy, management‘s estimate will be used for the
determination of the unobservable inputs.
0000000000000 000D00OD0o0oDoooOooaOo
0000000000000 0O0DO0OO00oO0o0DoOoooOooOoo
000010 002000000000000000000
ooo0oO0o0ooooOoO0oO0oOoOooOOOOOOOOOOOOO
OooO0O300o0oc0oo0oO0oO0ooO0ooDDooooOooOooaOo
ooooocooooooog

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:
O0o00oO0ooOoooooooo

(1) We evaluated and tested the design and the operating
effectiveness of the controls in relation to fair value
measurement of financial instruments;
J00d0o0OoOoooooOOoOoOOoOOoOOOOoOOoOOoOOoOoooan
gooooooooo

(2) We inspected investment agreements entered into, on a
sample basis, to understand the relevant terms and identify
conditions that were relevant to the valuation of financial
instruments, and inspected the audited financial statements
of the investee companies to evaluate the reasonableness of
the valuation;
gobobooobooboooooboboooboobooo
gobobOO0o0oO00obOo0ooboobOobooobooboo
gooooOOoo0ooOooOoOOoboooo

(3) For financial assets traded in active market, we checked to
the quoted price of corresponding financial assets as at
balance sheet date and re-performed the calculation to
arrive at the carrying value of respective financial assets;
gobobOOoocO0oOoboooobooboooboooboo
goooobOboobObOoobOOoOobobOoOoobOoobOoo
goooooo

(4) We involved internal valuation specialists to assist in
evaluating the methodologies and the key parameters used
for assessing fair value of financial instruments and testing
the fair value, on a sample basis;

00000000000 0O0OOoOoDoOoOOoDOooOOoOoOoOOo
0000000000000 D00OoOoOoOo
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Oo0o0o0ooad

Key audit matters (Gsn in ed)

Key Audit Matter
gooooo

gboboooo

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
gooobooobooboboobooo

Assessment of fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
goboooboobooog

Because of the complexity involved in assessing the fair value of
financial instruments, and significant management judgement
involved in determining the inputs of valuation models, we
consider this as a key audit matter.
gooooooooobODbDbboobOO0O000o0oooUooog
gooooooooobbbbobOo0o0o0oooooooood
goo

Refer to note 2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, note 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES, note 19 EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, note 20
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS,
note 21 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS and note 44 FAIR
VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS to the consolidated financial statements for
accounting policies and disclosures related to fair value of
financial instruments.
Jo0o0000OO00ODOO00bC2400000000000800O000O
goDO0O0O0ODOO0OO0ol1900b0b0O0o0obDoOoobooooooano
Jo0DO0O0O0ODOO0OO0ODoODOoze000D000OCDOOO0ODOOODO
000000 DO000dD210000000000440000
gooooooooobbbboooooooooooood
goooooooooo

(5) We ascertained the profile of independent valuers and
evaluated their competence, capabilities and objectivity; and
000000 0oOO0O000oDOoD0DOooOoOoUooooooOo
000

(6) We reviewed the sufficiency and completeness of the
disclosures of financial instruments in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
0000000000000 O0o0oDooOOoDoUooOooaO
goooo
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Independent Auditor’s Report

googood

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Gsn in ed)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

gogogooobobbobooo
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Independent Auditor’s Report

googood

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Gsn in ed)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report
is M.L. Chau.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

11 April 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Pro t or Loss

ooognd

Year ended 31 December 2021
ooooooooooooooononn

2021 2020
ogoooaoo ooooao
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
od oooaono ooooao
REVENUE oo 5 6,359,786 5,315,685
Cost of sales oooao (4,366,204) (3,298,849)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Oo0o00ooad

Year ended 31 December 2021

ooooooooooooooonn

2021 2020
ooooo goooo
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo gooooo
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR oooo 233,384 1,021,632
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME oooooo
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified to ooooooooooooon
profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax): oooooooooooood
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations o0ooooooooo (24,373) (181,924)
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates oo00oooooooo
00mogo 1,013 (1,642)
Net other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified to o0opoooooooooo
profit or loss in subsequent periods ooooooooooo (23,360) (183,566)
Other comprehensive loss that will not be reclassified to oooooooooooooo
profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax): oooooooooooooi
Change in fair value of equity investments designated o0oo00oooooooooo
at fair value through other comprehensive income 0oooooooooooo
gooooo (64,774) 6,835
Remeasurement income/(loss) on defined benefit pension o0oDoooooooooon
schemes oomooo 892 (25,050)
Net other comprehensive loss that will not be reclassified o0oDooooooooooo
to profit or loss in subsequent periods ooooooooo (63,882) (18,215)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax 00D000O00O0oooooog (87,242) (201,781)
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 0000000 Ooocoooo 146,142 819,851
Attributable to: gooooooo
Owners of the parent goDoo0oo 153,886 823,914
Non-controlling interests ooooo (7.744) (4,063)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

goooood

As at 31 December 2021
oooooooooooon

2021 2020
ooooo ooooo
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oo ooooo gooooo
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ooooo
Property, plant and equipment oooooooo 14 2,526,672 2,623,449
Right-of-use assets gopoooo ills) 239,854 186,191
Goodwill oo 16 2,152,201 2,202,566
Other intangible assets oooooo 17 472,969 512,370
Investments in associates oooooooo 18 1,146,465 1,631,183
Equity investments designated at fair value ooooooooooon
through other comprehensive income ooooooooooan
oooo 19 474,885 619,953
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss O
gooooood
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

goooood

As at 31 December 2021

oooooooooooon

2021 2020
ooooo ooooo
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
od oooaono ooooao
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ooooo
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ooooooooo 31 2,250,270 3,085,857
Deferred income oooog 32 16,673 18,744
Deferred tax liabilities oooooog 33 275,358 427,673
Long-term employee benefits oooooo 34 138,020 130,936
Other non-current liabilities ooooooo 9,070 9,218
Lease liabilities ogooa 15 104,001 51,643
Total non-current liabilities ooooooao 2,793,392 3,724,071
Net assets oooo 11,523,315 11,688,990
EQUITY oo
Equity attributable to owners of the parent o0o0oooooooo
Share capital oad 55 1,467,296 1,467,296
Reserves oo 36 9,944,058 10,102,096
Total equity attributable to owners of oooooooooooo
the parent 11,411,354 11,569,392
Non-controlling interests ooooo 111,961 119,598
Total equity oooo 11,523,315 11,688,990
Li Li Shan Yu
oo oo
Director Director
oo oo
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Oo004donoao
Year ended 31 December 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

googood

Year ended 31 December 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
OOo0O040gonoog

Year Ended 31 December 2021
ooooooooooooooononn

2021 2020
ooooo ooooo
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oo Oo0oo0oo ooooo
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES OooOoooooooo
Profit before tax: ooooo 222,264 1,327,836
Adjustments for: oooooooon
Bank interest income oooooo 6 (54,857) (34,647)
Finance costs gooo 8 210,074 260,824
Share of losses/(profits) of associates 0oo0o0o0oooomooon 120,230 (231,004)
Dividend income from financial assets ooooooooo
at fair value through profit or loss ooooooooo
OooOooooono 6 (28,575) (14,590)
Dividend income from financial assets ooooooooo
designated at fair value through oooooooo
other comprehensive loss ooooooooao
ooooo 6 (15,488) (16,561)
Interest income from debt investment ooooooooao 6 (1,744) (5,972)
Gains on disposal of financial assets at fair value ooooooooao
through profit or loss Oo00oo0oooOoooo
OoooOooooo 6 (5,761) (5,444)
Fair value losses on derivative instruments Jo00o0O0oOooooOooo 6 4,181 20,480
Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value oooooooooon
through profit or loss ooooooooo
OO0oOooOooOoo 6 (68,065) (506,936)
Impairment losses on associates ooooooon 7 223,092 =
Losses on disposal of items of property, ooooooooon
plant and equipment ooooo 6 5,105 1
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment oooooooooo 7 217,492 220,033
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ooooooo 7 37,782 35,212
Amortisation of other intangible assets oooooooan 7 51,520 52,123
Impairment losses on financial assets oooooooaon 7 101,958 15,194
Non-cash transaction in relation to investment Ooooooooooan 39 - (96,560)
Foreign exchange losses, net goooooo 6 205,044 248,832
1,224,252 1,268,821
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
OOo0O040gonoog

Year Ended 31 December 2021
ooooooooooooooononn

2021 2020

ogoooaoo ooooao

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

od oooaono ooooao

Increase in inventories oooao (1,539,300) (805,081)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables o0ooooooooon

Oooomoo 84,822 (407,465)

Decrease in contract assets goooooo 5,484 10,709
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and oooooooooo

other receivables o0ooooomooo 22,005 (88,273)

Decrease in amounts due from related parties Ooo0oDoOooooo 5,147 14,038

Increase in trade payables oooooooo 146,569 10,557

Increase in other payables and accruals ooooooooooooo 27,473 70,044

(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to related parties 0 D O 000000 OO 0O (1,890) 3,962

Increase in contract liabilities oooooo 120,864 56,682

Decrease in deferred income goooooo (2,071) (2,072)

Increase in long-term employee benefits oooooooao 7,084 21,933

(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits 00oooooomoao (11,501) 61,488

Cash generated from operations oooooo 88,938 215,343

Bank interest income oooooo 5,596 17,234

Income tax paid ooooog (101,163) (195,295)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities 0oooooomoao

gooooo (6,629) 37,282
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

googood

Year Ended 31 December 2021

ooooooooooooooonn

2021 2020
ooooo ooooo
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oo Oo0oo0oo ooooo
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES OooOoocoooooo
Dividend income from financial assets at fair o0ooooooooon
value through profit or loss oooooooOoooao
Oo0oooo 25,929 14,590
Dividend income from equity investments oooooooooon
designated at fair value through 0oooooooooon
other comprehensive income ooooooooo 15,488 16,561
Dividend received from an associate oooooooo 22,837 57,719
Interest income from debt investment ooooooooo 5,950 5,950
Investment income received from financial assets OooOoocoocooono
at fair value through profit or loss oooooooooooo
oooo 518,502 5,756
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair 0o0ooooooooooo
value through profit or loss Jooooooooooo
oooo 2,501,219 926,454
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments 0o000ooOoOoooooo
designated at fair value through other oo0ooooooooo
comprehensive income ooooooo 145,199 =
Purchases of derivative instruments oooooao (38,706) (2,755)
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment OO0 0000 OO0 OO OO (175,236) (206,862)
Purchases of other intangible assets 0o0oooooo (18,624) (5,628)
Investments in associates oooooooo - (11,030)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through 0o0o0oooooooooo
profit or loss oopooooooooo (2,331,456) (1,729,014)
Purchases of equity investments designated at fair ooooooooooo
value through other comprehensive income oooooooooo
ooooooo - (20,701)
Disposal of debt investment oooooo 70,000 -
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, oooooooooooan
plant and equipment oooo 1,718 220
Increase in time deposits gopooooo (71,513) (1,240,906)
Interest received from time deposits oooooooao 48,621 15,882
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities oooooomooo
oooooo 719,928 (2,173,764)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

googood

Year Ended 31 December 2021

ooooooooooooooonn

2021 2020
ooooo ooooo
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oo ooooo gooooo
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES o0oooooooooo
Proceeds from issue of shares ooooooog - 3,538,287
Share issue expenses ooooono - (8,113)
Received compensation for the acquisition of oooooooooon
Topknow - 252,399
New bank loans and other borrowings 00DO00oD0DOoo0ooOooo 3,693,770 4,516,321
Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings 0o0o0oooooooan (3,730,562) (5,197,421)
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings paid O00o000DoOoooooo (196,556) (250,767)
Contribution from the non-controlling shareholders O OO0 OO 0O 19 =
Dividends paid oooo (220,094) (224,286)
Principal and interest elements of lease payments oooooooooo (35,996) (32,957)
Counter guarantee deposit and other expenses ooooooooooao
related to corporate bond oooooooao (11,662) (87,000)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities 0ooooooomooo
oooooo (501,081) 2,506,463
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ooooooooo
EQUIVALENTS oooo 212,218 369,981
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 0ooooooooooao 1,330,245 1,076,537
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net oooooooo (62,830) (116,273)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS oooooooooo
AT END OF YEAR 1,479,633 1,330,245
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND 0000000000000
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances goooooao 27 1,479,633 1,304,996
Non-pledged time deposits with original oooooooooo
maturity of less than three months ooooooao 27 - 25,249
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS STATED gooobDOoooooo
IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ooooo 27 1,479,633 1,330,245
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Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn

31 December 2021
oooooooooooo

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a joint stock company with limited liability established in the
People’s Republic of China (hereafter, the “PRC’’) on 21 April 1998. With the
approval of the China Securities Regulatory Commission, the Company
completed its initial public offering and was listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002399.SZ) on 6 May 2010. On 8 July 2020, the
Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “HKSE”) (stock code: 9989. HK). The registered address of the
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Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn

31 December 2021
oooooooooooo

CORPORATE INFORMATION (G+n jn ed)

As of the date of this report, the Company had direct and indirect interests
in its subsidiaries, all of which are private limited liability companies or
limited partnerships, the particulars of which are set out below:

1.

Uooouyoo

oooCcoOoOoooOoooooooo
ooboocooooOoooooOoooaon
ooooooOoOOOO0oOooOoooao
oooooooooooo

Date and place
of incorporation/
registration and place

Issued
ordinary share/

Percentage of equity

Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ooooooo goooooo goooo
oo oooOoocOoooo gooao goooo oooo
Direct Indirect
oo oo

Chengdu Sunrace Co., Ltd.*, ** PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 96% - Production and sale

ooooooooooo ooooooo 0 0 00 200,000,0000 of heparin sodium

19 November 2009 0oo0oooo
ooooooooooo

Shandong Ruisheng Biotechnology PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 100% - Production and sale

Co., Ltd.*, ** ooooooo 00 030,000,0000 of heparin sodium

gooooooooooo 15 July 2010 0ooooooo
pooooooooo

Shenzhen Penghe Property Management PRC/Mainland China RMB132,000,000 55% - Property management operation

Co., Ltd.*, ** ooooooo 00 0132,000,0000 0ooooo
gooooooooooo 13 June 2011
pooooooooo

Shenzhen Pingshan New District Hepalink PRC/Mainland China RMB120,000,000 100% - Biopharmaceutical production;

Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*, ** ooooooo [0 0 0120,000,0000 biopharmaceutical services; and

0O000D0O0OOOoOoCoCooOoOoOoO 29 July 2013 biopharmaceutical research and

ooooooooooa development(‘R&D’)

goooooooOoocOoooo

goooOoO0OO0O@OooOd

Shenzhen Dekang Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% - Equity investment; investment

Development Co., Ltd.*, ** ooooooao 00 0 10,000,0000 management and consulting

gooooooOoOooooo 23 March 2015 oooOooooooooo
oooOoooooooo

“HEN HEN HE ALINK HA MACE ICALG @ CO. L D. 1§00000000r 100 ANN AL E @ 20210



Notes to Financial Statements
OO0O00onoog

31 December 2021
oooooooooooo

ooouyoo

CORPORATE INFORMATION (G+n jn ed) 1.

Date and place
of incorporation/
registration and place

Issued
ordinary share/

Percentage of equity

Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ooooooo goooooo ooooo
oo oOooOoCOooOoo gooo ooooo oooo
Direct Indirect
0o 0o
Shenzhen Fanpu Biotechnology PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 66% - Biopharmaceutical technology
Co., Ltd.*, ** ooooooa 00 01,000,0000 development and consulting
gooooooOoOooooo 25 February 2015 goooooooooo
oooOoooooooo
Hepalinkl Hong Kong[Limited Hong Kong HK330,221,445 100% - Investment holding and trading
0oDOoooOoooO 00 330,221,4450 0 of biopharmaceutical products
23 November 2010 0000000000000
gooog
goooooo
Hepalink Europe AB Sweden SEK100,000 - 100% Investment holding
oo 100,0000 000 goooo
1 February 2010
goooooooo
Hepalink USA INC. USA 10,000 shares 100% - Investment holding
oo 10,0000 0O gooo
25 October 2013
oooooooooOoO
SPL Acquisition Corp. (“SPL”) USA 500,000 shares - 100% Production of active pharmaceutical
oo 500,0000 0 O ingredients and manufacture of
13 July 2006 pancreatin
goooocpooooo pooooooooo
Scientific Protein Laboratories LLC USA 1,000 shares - 100% Biopharmaceutical production
oo 1000000 and sales
22 January 2004 0oo0oooooo
00ooo0ooOooODo
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Notes to Financial Statements
OO0O00onoog

31 December 2021
oooooooooooo

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Gs+n in ed) 1. 0000y
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ooooooo goooooo ooooo
oo oOooOoCOooOoo gooo ooooo oooo
Direct Indirect
0o 0o
Mobren Logistics L.L.C. USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical production
oo 1000 and sales
22 December 2003 oooopooooo
goooo
goooooo
Mobren Transport Inc. USA 1,000 shares - 100% Biopharmaceutical production
oo 1,0000 0 O and sales
23 December 1997 oooOoooooo
goooo
goooooo
Novahealth Biosystems, LLC USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical R&D
oo 1000 oooooo
24 March 2016
oooOoooOoDooOO
Pharma Bridge International LLC USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical sales
oo 1000 oooooo
28 November 2012
goooo
ooooooo
SPL Distribution Holdings LLC USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical sales
0o 1000 gooooo
26 December 2017
ooooo
ooooooo
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Notes to Financial Statements
OO0O00onoog

31 December 2021
oooooooooooo

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (G+n jn ed)

Date and place
of incorporation/
registration and place

Issued
ordinary share/

1. 00o0Qyoo

Percentage of equity

Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ooooooo goooooo ooooo
oo oOooOoCOooOoo gooo ooooo oooo
Direct Indirect
0o 0o
SPL Distribution LLC USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical sales
oo 1000 gooooo
26 December 2017
goooo
goooooo
Cytovance Biologics, Inc. USA 5,000 shares - 100% Biopharmaceutical contract
00 5,0000 0 O manufacturing and development
19 September 2005 goooooooooo
goooooOooOoo
Shenzhen Beidi Aoke Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% - Biopharmaceutical technology
Development Co., Ltd.*, ** ooooooa 00 010,000,0000 development
goooooOoOoooOooo 19 July 2002 gooooooo
oooOooOooocoo
Shenzhen Maple Sea Capital Equity PRC/Mainland China RMB250,000,000 99% - Equity investment; venture investment;
Investment Fund Partnership ooooooa 0 0 0250,000,0000 investment consulting and
(Limited Partnership)*, *** 10 April 2015 management
gpoooooOooOooOoo gooooooog oooooocoood
gooooocoooo goooooo
Shenzhen OncoVent Biomedical PRC/Mainland China USD9,259,300 54% - Biopharmaceutical R&D
Technology Co., Ltd.*, ** goooooo 9,259,3000 O oooooo
goooooooOooOoooo 26 July 2016
goooOooOooooo
OncoVent USA Inc. USA 20,000 shares - 54% Biopharmaceutical R&D
oo 20,0000 0 0 oooooo
11 August 2016
poooooOooOon
“HEN HEN HE ALINK HA MACE ICALG @ CO. L D. 1§00000000r¢ 100 ANN AL E @ 20210



Notes to Financial Statements
OO0O00onoog

31 December 2021
oooooooooooo

ooouyoo

CORPORATE INFORMATION (G+n jn ed) 1.

Date and place
of incorporation/
registration and place

Issued
ordinary share/

Percentage of equity

Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ooooooo goooooo ooooo
oo oOooOoCOooOoo gooo ooooo oooo
Direct Indirect
0o 0o
Shenzhen Ruidi Biomedical PRC/Mainland China USD14,117,647 51% - Biopharmaceutical production,
Co., Ltd.*, ** goooooo 14,117,6470 0 sales and R&D
gooooooOoOooooo 2 July 2018 oooooOoooooooo
gooooooog
Arimab USA Inc. USA 100 shares - 51% Biopharmaceutical R&D
oo 100000 gooooo
10 December 2018
gooooooooo
Hepalink Pharmaceutical (Hong Kong) Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
Limited oo 1000 gooo
0000000000000 08 December 2019
oooOooOooocoo
Hepalink Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
goooooooo oo 1000 goooo
08 December 2019
oooOooOooooo
Cytovance Cayman, Inc. Cayman Islands 1 share - 100% Investment holding
gooo 1000 gooo
12 August 2019
gooOoocOooooo
Techdow USA INC. USA 1,000 shares - 100% Investment holding and trading of
oo 1,0000 00 biopharmaceutical products
25 June 2021 goooooOooOooooo
00ooo0OoOoODo
Hepalink Capital I Inc. Cayman Islands USD50,000 - 100% Investment holding
oooo 50,0000 O gooo
02 September 2021
00o0o0O00OO
“HEN HEN HE ALINK HA MACE ICALG @ CO. L D. 1000000000T 100 ANN AL E @ 20210
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Notes to Financial Statements
OO0O00onoog

31 December 2021
oooooooooooo

ooouyoo

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (G+n jn ed) 1.

Date and place
of incorporation/
registration and place

Issued
ordinary share/

Percentage of equity

Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ooooooo goooooo ooooo
oo oOooOoCOooOoo gooo ooooo oooo
Direct Indirect
0o 0o
Hepalink Healthcare Partners | L.P. Cayman Islands - - 100% Investment holdin
gooo gooo
08 September 2021
gooooooog
Hepalink Biotechnology | Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
oo 1000 gooo
24 September 2021
ooooooooooo
Hepalink Biotechnology Il Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
oo 1000 gooo
24 September 2021
ooooooooooo
Hepalink Capital Il Inc. Cayman Islands USD50,000 - 100% Investment holding
gooo 50,0000 O gooo
02 September 2021
gooooooooo
Hepalink Healthcare Partners Il L.P. Cayman Islands - - 100% Investment holding
gooo gooo
08 September 2021
goooooooo
Hepalink Biotechnology Ill Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
oo 1000 gooo
24 September 2021
00o0o0OoODODO
Shenzhen Topknow Industrial PRC/Mainland China RMB230,000,000 100% - Biopharmaceutical R&D
Development Co., Ltd.*, ** ooooooo 0 [ 0230,000,0000 oooooo
gooOooOOoOoOboOoCboO 7 June 2000
ooopoooooo
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Notes to Financial Statements
OO0O00onoog

31 December 2021
oooooooooooo

CORPORATE INFORMATION (G+n jn ed)

Date and place
of incorporation/
registration and place

Issued
ordinary share/

1. 0OO

Percentage of equity

Rayyn

Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ooooooo goooooo ooooo
oo oOooOoCOooOoo gooo ooooo oooo
Direct Indirect
0o 0o
Shenzhen Techdow Pharmaceutical Co., PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 100% Biopharmaceutical R&D
Ltd.*, ** goooooo [0 00 150,000,0000 gooooo
goooOoooooo 29 June 2004
oooOoooooooo
Techdow (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK 233,960,000 - 100% Investment holding and trading
000000000 oOO 00 233,960,0000 [ of medical products
22 May 2013 goooooooooa
ooooooooooo
Techdow Europe AB Sweden SEK100,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
oo 100,0000 000 gooooo
12 June 2014
gooooooooo
Hepalink (Shanghai) Co,. Ltd.*, ** PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100% Provision of services on pharmaceutical
g0oooooOooOoo goooooo 0 0 01,000,0007T related activities
5 March 2012 gooooooooo
goooooooo
Techdow Pharma Poland Sp.zo.o. Poland PLN7,359,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
oo 7,359,0000 0 O gooooo
12 October 2016
goooooOooOoo
Techdow Pharma Netherlands B.V. Netherlands EUR480 - 100% Trading of medical products
oo 4300 O oooooo
6 June 2017
poooooooo
TD Pharma B.V. Netherlands EUR480 - 100% Investment holding
oo 4300 O oooo
22 November 2016
goooo
ooooooo
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Notes to Financial Statements
OO0O00onoog

31 December 2021
ooooooooooonn

Date and place

of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ooooooo goooooo ooooo
oo goooooooo gooo ooooo oooo
Direct Indirect
0o 0o
Techdow Pharma England Limited England
oog
6 December 2016
gooooooooo
@ 0000000000000 O00O0OO

00000000000 O000O0
*x 00000000000 O00000

*>** [JO00000O0O0O0O0O0O0O0O00O0

oooo0O0oO00oO0O0OOooOO0o0o00aon
OoooO0O0o0O00O0O0O0O000000
oooooooo
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Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn

31 December 2021
oooooooooooo

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), (which include all
International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income, derivative financial instruments and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the

Group for the year ended 31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the inv